The effect of Targeted Acoustic Startle Technology on the foraging success of individual harbor seals

By

Kathleen Anne McKeegan

Accepted in Partial Completion of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Dr. Alejandro Acevedo-Gutiérrez, Chair

Dr. Matthew Zinkgraf

Dr. Austen Thomas

GRADUATE SCHOOL

David L. Patrick, Dean

Master's Thesis

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a master's degree at Western Washington University, I grant to Western Washington University the non-exclusive royalty-free right to archive, reproduce, distribute, and display the thesis in any and all forms, including electronic format, via any digital library mechanisms maintained by WWU.

I represent and warrant this is my original work, and does not infringe or violate any rights of others. I warrant that I have obtained written permissions from the owner of any third party copyrighted material included in these files.

I acknowledge that I retain ownership rights to the copyright of this work, including but not limited to the right to use all or part of this work in future works, such as articles or books.

Library users are granted permission for individual, research and non-commercial reproduction of this work for educational purposes only. Any further digital posting of this document requires specific permission from the author.

Any copying or publication of this thesis for commercial purposes, or for financial gain, is not allowed without my written permission.

Kathleen Anne McKeegan

8/4/2022

The effect of Targeted Acoustic Startle Technology on the foraging success of individual harbor seals

A Thesis Presented to The Faculty of Western Washington University

In Partial Fulfillment Of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

> by Kathleen Anne McKeegan August 2022

Abstract

Rebounding pinniped populations have led to conflicts with fisheries over commercially important prey species. Acoustic deterrent devices (ADDs) are used to aid the recovery of depleted fish stocks by mitigating pinniped predation. However, most ADDs use painful sound signals, which can lead to hearing loss and habituation. Alternatively, a new ADD called Targeted Acoustic Startle Technology (TAST) decreases pinniped predation with no evidence of harm or habituation, but effects on the foraging success of individual pinnipeds is unknown. In the Salish Sea, harbor seal (*Phoca vitulina*) populations have rebounded since the early 1970's and are suspected of impeding the recovery of Pacific salmon (Oncorhynchus spp.). In fall 2020, TAST was deployed to deter harbor seals that reliably aggregate in the mouth of Whatcom Creek in Bellingham, WA, from preving on fall runs of hatchery chum (O. keta) and Chinook (O. tshawytscha) salmon. Field observations were conducted between 2019-2021 to assess the shortterm (2020 fall salmon run only) and long-term (2019-2021 salmon runs) effectiveness of TAST on mitigating harbor seal predation. Analyses showed that TAST significantly decreased the duration that individuals remained at the creek but had variable effects on the foraging success of individuals in 2020. Generalized Linear Models showed no lingering effect of TAST on the presence or foraging success of seals the following year. I conclude that TAST may be an effective management tool in the short-term, but individual variability must be accounted for when managing predation by pinnipeds on depleted fishery species.

Acknowledgements

This project would not have been possible without the financial support from my funders, namely the North Pacific Research Board's Graduate Student Research Award. I would also like to acknowledge the Washington Sea Grant Science Communication Fellowship, the Flora and Fraser Funds through the Western Washington University (WWU) Biology Department, and the WWU Research and Sponsored Programs grant. I would also like to acknowledge NASA's Washington Space Grant which supported the work of my project co-lead, Kate Clayton.

I would like to recognize Bellingham Technical College and their co-managers at the Lummi Nation and the Nooksack Indian Tribe who not only maintain and run the Whatcom Creek Hatchery but also were willing to collaborate and share salmon escapement data with our lab. Further, I would like to thank the researchers at Oceans Initiative, namely the founders Dr. Rob Williams and Dr. Erin Ashe, research associate Asila Ghoul Bergman, and research assistants Stephanie Reiss and Andrea Mendez-Bye. Their team deployed TAST at Whatcom Creek and were willing to collaborate and help me find a worthwhile research question. I am grateful for Peter Thut, the stockroom staff, and the whole Biology Department for their support and leadership throughout the ever-changing COVID-19 pandemic. Lastly, I would like to acknowledge that this research relied on and took place on the unceded, ancestral lands of the Lummi Nation and Nooksack Indian Tribe, who have been caring for and protecting these lands, waterways, and resources since time immemorial.

A special thanks to my advisor, Dr. Alejandro Acevedo-Gutiérrez, for his guidance over the past two years. His meticulous edits, constructive criticism, and keen scientific mind pushed me to become a better scientist, writer, and leader. I would also like to sincerely thank my committee members, Dr. Matt Zinkgraf and Dr. Austen Thomas, for their reviews and advice throughout this process. I learned a great deal from both, and this research benefitted significantly from their input and suggestions. I am also forever indebted to the countless undergraduates who have put in hundreds of hours of work observing harbor seals in the field and cropping thousands of photos. Namely, I would like to acknowledge Liz Johnson for her fantastic GIS maps of the study site. A huge thanks to my assistant lab manager, co-project lead, and my ESU (Emotional Support Undergrad), Kate Clayton. Kate's unyielding work ethic, fearless leadership, and incredibly precise photo identification skills made this project what it is today. I am eternally grateful for her dedication, patience, brilliant scientific ingenuity, and for her friendship. I would also like to thank Grace Freeman, whose work paved the way for my research project. I could not have done this without her pioneering methods, and I am grateful for her friendship, collaboration, and support.

Lastly, I would like to thank those who supported me personally through these past two years. To my parents, Kevin and Grace – thank you for your unwavering support and encouragement in everything I do. Thanks to the rest of my amazing family, Megan, Chelsea, Danny, Lilly, and Cassidy, for welcoming me back to the PNW and listening to me talk about seals all day long. A special thanks to my sister Megan for driving me from Seattle to Bellingham for my interview with Alejandro back in 2019. To my lab mate, roommate, and friend, Zoë Lewis– thank you for all the edits, venting sessions, bike rides, and for all the laughs. I truly could not have done this without you. To my partner, Steven – thank you for encouraging me to pursue a master's degree and for supporting me every step of the way, even when I was hangry or crying over statistics. Without all of you, I would not be here.

Abstract	iv
Acknowledgements	v
List of Figures	viii
List of Tables	ix
List of Supplementary Figures and Tables	X
Introduction	
Background: Management of Pinniped Predation	1
Case Study: Harbor Seals in the Salish Sea	8
Methods	
Study Site	
TAST	14
Field Observations	14
Salmon Occurrence	
Photo Identification of Individual Seals	
Presence and Duration of Individual Seals	
Foraging Success of Individual Seals	
Site Fidelity of Individual Seals Across Years	
Statistical Analysis of Short - Term Effects of TAST: Fall 2020 Effect on the Presence and Duration of Individual Seals Effect on the Foraging Success of Individual Seals	
Statistical Analysis of Long- Term Effects of TAST: 2019, 2020, 2021 Effect on Individual Seals Overall Effect on all Seals	
Results	
Short-term Effects of TAST: Fall 2020 Effect on the Presence and Duration of Individual Seals Effect on the Foraging Success of Individual Seals	
Long-term Effects of TAST: 2019, 2020, and 2021 Effect on Individual Seals Overall Effect on all Seals	
Discussion	

Table of Contents

Appendix	
References	
Management Implications	
Long-term Effects of TAST	
Short-term Effects of TAST	

List of Figures

List of Tables

Table 1. Analysis of distance showing the effects of TAST on individual seal presence and duration (mins) at Whatcom Creek in 2020. The table was generated using permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA). Bolded p-values denote significance. 36
 Table 2. Model selection of generalized linear mixed-models (GLMMs) analysis with a negative binomial distribution for duration of harbor seals seen at Whatcom Creek in fall 2020. TAST status (on or off) is included as a fixed independent variable, with 5-day rolling average of salmon counts, tide height, Julian date (n=27), number of cameras used (n=3), length of observation, and seal ID (n=98) as potential random intercepts
Table 3. GLMM with negative binomial distribution output for the final, most parsimoniousmodel describing the duration (min) for each individual harbor seal observed at WhatcomCreek during the experimental window in 2020. Significant p-values (<0.05) are
Table 4. Model selection of GLMM analysis for the foraging success of individual harbor sealsseen at Whatcom Creek in fall 2020. Number of days observed (nDays), TAST status (on or off), and mean observation length (min) are included as possible fixed factors, with ID of individual seals (ID, n=55) included as a random intercept
Table 5. GLMM model output for the final, most parsimonious model describing the totalnumber of salmon caught and consumed by individual harbor seals at Whatcom Creek in2020. Significant p-values (p<0.05) are indicated in bold
Table 6. Chi-squared test for 2x2 contingency table of exposure level to TAST in 2020 relative to individual seals returning in 2021. 'Exposed' includes all individuals observed for 1 day or more at Whatcom Creek while TAST was on, whereas 'Not Exposed' includes all individuals that were never observed at Whatcom Creek with TAST on
Table 7. Chi-squared test for 2x2 contingency table of seal fidelity status in 2020 relative to individual seals returning in 2021. 'New' indicates individuals that were observed at Whatcom Creek for the first time in 2020, whereas 'Returner' indicates individuals that were observed at least once between 2014-2019 at Whatcom Creek
Table 8. GLM with negative binomial distribution output describing the total number of harborseals observed at Whatcom Creek during the peak salmon runs from 2019- 2021 aspredicted by TAST status (before - 2019, on - 2020, off - 2020, after - 2021)
Table 9. GLM with negative binomial distribution output describing the total number of salmon caught by all harbor seals per observation at Whatcom Creek during the peak salmon runs from 2019- 2021 as predicted by TAST status (before – 2019, on – 2020, off – 2020, after – 2021).

List of Supplementary Figures and Tables

Figure S1. Plot showing the variation among the levels of the random effect (seal ID) for the final GLMM predicting duration (min) of seals at Whatcom Creek in 2020. Y-axis shows each individual seal ($n=98$) and the values indicate the difference between the general model estimate and individual effect. Color denotes either a positive (blue) or negative (red) relationship to the general model intercept for each seal.
Figure S2 Plot showing the variation among the levels of the random effect (seal ID) for the final GLMM predicting sum of salmon caught by seals at Whatcom Creek in 2020. Y-axis shows each individual seal ($n=55$) and the values indicate the difference between the general model estimate and the individual effect. Color denotes either a positive (blue) or negative (red) relationship to the general model intercept for each seal
Table S1. Chi-squared test for 2x4 contingency table, comparing seal fidelity as it relates to number of days observed for each individual seal in fall 2020
Table S2. Chi-squared test for 2x4 contingency table comparing seal fidelity as it relates to proportion of days observed when TAST was on out of the total number of days observed for each individual seal
Table S3. Proportion of days observed and total number of salmon caught per ID for seals seen across all four TAST status: before (2019), On (2020), Off (2020), and after (2021). Proportions are the number of observations each seal was present out of the total number of observations conducted per year between October and December. 87
Table S4. Contingency table and resulting Chi-squared test for 2x2 table comparing seal exposure toTAST in 2020 and the individual's foraging success in 2021 for all seals present in 2021
Table S5. Contingency table and resulting Chi-squared test for $2x2$ table comparing seal fidelity status to successful foraging events (yes or no) in 2020 for each individual present in 2020 ($n=98$)
Table S6. Contingency table and resulting Chi-squared test for 2x4 table comparing seal fidelity as itrelates to successful foraging events across TAST status in fall 2020

Introduction

Background: Management of Pinniped Predation

Predation by pinnipeds on commercially important prey has been a source of conflict for centuries (Bowen & Lidgard, 2013; Hansson, Bergström, et al., 2018; Morissette et al., 2012; Tixier et al., 2021; Trites et al., 1997). Pinnipeds (seals, sea lions, fur seals, and the walrus), compete with humans over shared resources by consuming fish and shellfish of commercial interest (Hansson, Bergström, et al., 2018; Morissette et al., 2012; Tixier et al., 2021). Pinnipeds forage around aquaculture pens, near fish ladders, and prey directly off of fishery catches, which can cause gear damage, reduce overall catch for fishers, and result in possible harm to pinnipeds via by-catch or lethal retaliation (Scordino, 2010; Tixier et al., 2021). Furthermore, many key coastal fisheries overlap spatially with pinniped haul-out sites and feeding areas, increasing the likelihood of fishery-seal competition (Hansson, Bergström, et al., 2018). While scientists debate how much direct competition actually exists between fisheries and pinnipeds (Hansson, Bergström, et al., 2018; Hansson, Kautsky, et al., 2018; Trites et al., 1997; Walters et al., 2020), the perceived competition has led to frustration for fishers and a focus on managing pinniped predation (Harlan et al., 2009; Morissette et al., 2012; Oliveira et al., 2020; Yurk & Trites, 2000).

This conflict between fishers and pinnipeds is exacerbated when the fish stocks in question are depleted (Cook et al., 2015; Morissette et al., 2012). Globally, fish biomass has declined significantly over the past century, with most of the decline occurring in the last 40 years (Christensen et al., 2014; Worm et al., 2006). This decline is driven by several factors including overfishing, habitat degradation, and climate change (Christensen et al., 2014; Jusufovski et al., 2019; Myers et al., 1996; Worm et al., 2006). Overfishing is defined as human take beyond the maximum sustainable yield (MSY) of a stock (Worm et al., 2006). Exceeding

regulated MSY may result in the decline of stock populations, the subsequent closure of fisheries, and detrimental economic impacts (Richerson et al., 2018; Worm et al., 2006, 2009). For example, the 2017 closure of the Pacific salmon (*Oncorhynchus* spp.) troll fishery in southern Oregon and northern California resulted in an estimated loss of \$5.8-8.9 million in income, \$12.8-19.6 million in sales, and 200 to 300 jobs (Richerson et al., 2018). Closures seek to aid the recovery of a targeted fish stock by decreasing fishing mortality. However, in many cases, reduced fishing mortality or fishing below MSY does not prevent fishery collapse, suggesting that either MSY is miscalculated or natural mortality, such as that caused by pinniped predation, is higher than predicted (Cook et al., 2015; Worm et al., 2009).

At the same time fisheries are collapsing or closing, many pinniped populations are rebounding thanks to conservation efforts and federal regulations (Magera et al., 2013). In the United States, the passage of the Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA) of 1972 made it a federal offense to "harass, hunt, capture, or kill" a marine mammal, allowing pinnipeds to recover (Magera et al., 2013; Marine Mammal Commission, 2007). Subsequently, many pinniped populations significantly increased in size, despite severe historical declines from commercial harvesting or state-sponsored bounty programs (Jeffries et al., 2003; Magera et al., 2013; Olsen et al., 2018). For example, harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*) along the coast of Washington and Oregon experienced substantial population suppression to below 10% of their historical level prior to regulation, and have since recovered to above 90% of their historical levels (Magera et al., 2013). While the recovery of previously depleted pinnipeds may be seen as a conservation success, rebounding populations have increased predation pressures on commercially important fish stocks, leading many fishers to blame pinnipeds for their economic

losses (Cook et al., 2015; Morissette et al., 2012; Oliveira et al., 2020; Roman et al., 2015; Schakner et al., 2019).

In response, management efforts are being implemented to mitigate pinniped predation on depleted fish stocks (Bowen & Lidgard, 2013; Götz & Janik, 2016; Götz & Janik, 2013; Scordino, 2010). Common management methods include: physical and electric barriers (Forrest et al., 2009; Harlan et al., 2009); acoustic deterrents (Götz & Janik, 2013; Graham et al., 2009; Jacobs & Terhune, 2002; Kastelein et al., 2017; Mikkelsen et al., 2017); pyrotechnics and projectiles (Brown et al., 2009); capturing or killing select individuals (National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS), 1999; Scordino, 2010); and limiting predator population growth (Bowen & Lidgard, 2013; Graham et al., 2011; Nelson et al., 2020; Scordino, 2010). These methods have been applied in many different systems of concern and have had varying degrees of success (Brown et al., 2009; NMFS, 1997; Scordino, 2010). However, most management methods assume that all pinnipeds in a population are equally likely to impact the prey species despite known intraspecific variation among pinnipeds, whose diets vary across sex, location, season, and individual (Bowen & Lidgard, 2013; Lance et al., 2012; Orr et al., 2004; Schwarz et al., 2018). Many conflict situations between pinnipeds and fisheries involve specific individuals that repeatedly return and forage in locations of concern (e.g. around fish ladders or aquaculture pens) (Keefer et al., 2012; Middlemas et al., 2006; NMFS, 1999; Scordino, 2010; Wright et al., 2010). General management of pinnipeds may not be successful without addressing these 'problem' individuals (NMFS, 1999; Scordino, 2010). To be effective, management methods should consider individual variability of foraging success, behavior, and diet (Bowen & Lidgard, 2013; Freeman et al., 2022; NMFS, 1999; Schakner et al., 2017; Scordino, 2010).

While there are economic and ecological costs to any management method, lethal management of pinnipeds is particularly controversial (Bearzi et al., 2004; Bowen & Lidgard, 2013; Jackman et al., 2018; Morissette et al., 2012; Treves & Karanth, 2003). Lethal management often refers to predator population control though culling, the reduction of a wild population of animals through selective killing in order to increase a prey population (Morissette et al., 2012; Olsen et al., 2018; Scordino, 2010). Fueled by the pinniped-fishery conflict, several culling campaigns were deployed globally to control pinniped populations levels in the 18th and 19th centuries (Morissette et al., 2012; Newby, 1973; Olsen et al., 2018). For example, 26,000 harbor seals and 10,000 gray seals (*Halichoerus grypus*) were bountied and killed in Denmark between 1890 and 1970 to reduce their predation on salmon and their destruction of fishing gear (Olsen et al., 2018). Culling campaigns require intense and frequent population reductions to see any significant increase in prey abundance, and there is little evidence that large-scale culling to increase prey abundance is feasible or will be effective (Bowen & Lidgard, 2013; Butterworth, 1992; Morissette et al., 2012; Olsen et al., 2018).

Large-scale culling campaigns to reduce predator population size have become less common since the passage of the MMPA and similar regulations worldwide. In the United States, permits must be issued in accordance with guidelines specified by the Marine Mammal Commission to lethally remove a pinniped. Permits typically allow only targeted individual pinnipeds to be removed based on repeated appearances at the site of concern (Marine Mammal Commission, 2007). These targeted predators eligible for lethal removal are considered 'rogue' or 'problem' individuals, meaning they repeatedly return to the site of concern and consume a disproportionate amount of prey relative to others in the same population (Graham et al., 2011; Keefer et al., 2012; Wright et al., 2010).

The scientific evidence to justify culling of rogue individuals is uncertain, and it can be difficult to assess the success of this management method (Bowen & Lidgard, 2013; Graham et al., 2011; Morissette et al., 2012). For example, at Bonneville Dam in the Pacific Northwest, a growing aggregation of California sea lions (Zalophus californianus) and Steller sea lions (*Eumetopias jubatus*) prey on threatened Pacific salmon stocks, with many individuals repeatedly returning to the dam year after year (Keefer et al., 2012; Scordino, 2010; Wright et al., 2010). In response, managers lethally removed 40 high-impact repeat-visit California sea lions between 2008-2010; however, this management action was highly contentious and the effects of the removal are not well understood (Keefer et al., 2012). The contention is derived from the fact that the public has placed more value on marine mammals in recent years, making it difficult to obtain public support for the culling of pinnipeds or other 'charismatic megafauna' (Bowen & Lidgard, 2013; Jackman et al., 2018). Further, many pinniped populations are still recovering or have only recently recovered after years of over-exploitation and human disturbance (Bowen & Lidgard, 2013). Consequently, non-lethal methods may be preferred for the management of pinniped predation (Jackman et al., 2018).

The most widely used non-lethal management tools are Acoustic Deterrent Devices (ADDs), which are generally considered effective and benign ways of mitigating pinniped predation (Kastelein et al., 2017; Schakner & Blumstein, 2013; Todd et al., 2019). ADDs utilize loud sound signals to cause pain in the target species and subsequently deter predators from foraging in a specific area (Kastelein et al., 2017; Schakner & Blumstein, 2013). These pain-inducing ADDs, often referred to as 'seal scarers' or 'seal bombs', not only contribute to large-scale noise pollution, but also cause hearing damage or habitat displacement for both target and non-target species (Götz & Janik, 2013; Schaffeld et al., 2020; Todd et al., 2019). For example, a

signal from a typical commercial 'seal scarer' can induce severe hearing impairment in harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) and other species sensitive to noise pollution (Götz & Janik, 2013; Schaffeld et al., 2020). Yet, pain-inducing ADDs that are not sufficiently aversive, while effective in the short-term, are generally unsuccessful in the long-term due to habituation (Scordino, 2010). Over time, the sound signal becomes a neutral stimulus and the animal can learn to associate it with prey, a phenomenon termed the 'dinner bell effect' (Schakner & Blumstein, 2013). To be effective, ADDs must specifically target the intended predator and maintain sufficient adverse effects over time (Götz & Janik, 2015; Götz & Janik, 2013; Schakner & Blumstein, 2013).

Non-lethal deterrents that utilize behavioral biology are more likely to have long-term success in mitigating predation (Götz & Janik, 2015; Kastelein et al., 2017; Schakner & Blumstein, 2013; Todd et al., 2019). A new ADD design, known as Targeted Acoustic Startle Technology (TAST), produces reliable, long-lasting avoidance behaviors in harbor seals and grey seals (Götz & Janik, 2011, 2016). TAST was developed by GenusWave, a company founded by biologists from the Sea Mammal Research Unit at the University of St. Andrews, and was designed to target seals preying on salmon without harming other species of concern (Götz & Janik, 2015, 2016). TAST uses short onset-time sound stimuli to trigger the acoustic startle reflex, a startle response that is associated with the 'flight behavior' in seals (Götz & Janik, 2016; Koch, 1999; Yeomans et al., 2002). The startle response is a simple reflex arc characterized by a fast motor response, similar to flinching, and can be triggered by sudden and intense acoustic stimuli (Götz & Janik, 2011; Koch, 1999; Yeomans et al., 2002). This acoustic startle reflex is conserved across many mammalian taxa and is believed to help protect an organism from life-threatening impacts or predatory attacks (Koch, 1999; Yeomans et al., 2002). Götz and Janik

(2011) found that the repeated triggering of the startle reflex in seals led to sensitization, rather than habituation. In other words, the seals developed a fear-conditioned response and a subsequent avoidance behavior to the signal, impacting their motivation to access known prey items (Götz & Janik, 2011). This suggests that TAST could have a long-lasting effect on pinniped foraging behavior beyond the short-term muscular startle response.

To target pinnipeds specifically, the sound signals emitted by TAST are played within a lower frequency range than most commercial ADDs (Götz & Janik, 2013). Due to differences in hearing sensitives, the 'perceived loudness' of a sound signal varies across species (Götz & Janik, 2013). For example, odontocetes (toothed whales) are more sensitive than pinnipeds to sound frequencies between 4 and 40 kHz, the frequency band that most typical ADDs utilize (Götz & Janik, 2013). In other words, odontocetes will be able to detect sound signals in this frequency band at quieter levels than pinnipeds, resulting in a greater impact on these non-target species. On the other hand, pinnipeds are more sensitive within the 1 to 2 kHz frequency band than odontocetes or bony fishes, meaning a sound signal in this frequency band can be played at lower, less painful decibel levels and still affect the targeted predator (Götz & Janik, 2013). By exploiting inter-species differences in hearing sensitivities, TAST can theoretically deter pinnipeds without affecting non-target species and without causing pinniped hearing damage (Götz & Janik, 2015).

In practice, TAST decreases predation success of pinnipeds with no evidence of habituation or adverse impacts to non-target species (Götz & Janik, 2015, 2016). TAST tested on Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) farms in Scotland reduced seal predation by 91-93% and significantly decreased the number of salmon lost compared to control sites (Götz & Janik, 2016). Furthermore, sound exposure decreased the number of seals within 250 m of the device

but did not alter harbor porpoise behavior or distribution (Götz & Janik, 2015). However, some individual harbor seals tolerated the sound within 250 m and it is possible that the majority of fish mortality was caused by only a few individual seals (Götz & Janik, 2016; Trites & Spitz, 2016). These data suggest that although TAST can target one species, it may not deter all individuals within that species (Götz & Janik, 2015, 2016; Trites & Spitz, 2016). Furthermore, the study was conducted at a location where alternative TAST-free salmon farms were readily available, so the motivation to remain and forage near the device was low (Trites & Spitz, 2016).

In the summer of 2020, TAST was deployed at the Ballard (Hiram M. Chittenden) Locks in Seattle, Washington, to deter harbor seals and Steller sea lions preying on salmon near the fish ladder (Bogaard, 2021; Williams, Ashe, Bogaard, et al., 2021). During the study, pinniped presence declined by around 20-25%, and statistical analysis showed a 49.3% reduction in predation rate when TAST was operating (Williams, Ashe, Bogaard, et al., 2021). Furthermore, TAST redistributed harbor seals away from the fish ladder and increased overall fish passage through the ladder, although some seals remained within 10 m of the device (Bogaard, 2021; Williams, Ashe, Bogaard, et al., 2021). While these data from Scotland and Seattle show encouraging results, no study has yet assessed the effects of TAST on the foraging success of individual pinnipeds, either in the short-term or the long-term, and no study has yet assessed the lingering effects of TAST a year or more after the device was deployed.

Case Study: Harbor Seals in the Salish Sea

In the Pacific Northwest, rebounding harbor seal populations have renewed conflicts between seals and fishers. Pacific harbor seals, found throughout the west coast of North America, are the most abundant pinniped in the Salish Sea, the inland waters around Washington, USA, and British Columbia, Canada (Jefferson et al., 2021; NMFS, 1997). As

opportunistic hunters, they prey on various species of commercial interest, including Pacific salmon, a taxon of great ecological, cultural, and conservation concern (Adams et al., 2016; Butler et al., 2015; Cederholm et al., 2000; Chasco et al., 2017). Due to their perceived impact on commercially important fisheries, an estimated 17,000 harbor seals were lethally removed from Washington state waters as a part of a state-sponsored bounty-hunting program between 1943-1960 (Newby, 1973). After the passage of the MMPA, harbor seal populations increased 7 to 10fold in a few decades (Jeffries et al., 2003; Magera et al., 2013; NMFS, 1997). Harbor seal populations in Washington and Oregon are currently at their optimal sustainable population (OSP) levels and several stocks continue to increase in size despite anthropogenic threats, such as bioaccumulation of toxins, illegal killings, and overfishing (Baird, 2001; Brown et al., 2005; Jefferson et al., 2021; Jeffries et al., 2003; Scordino, 2010). Specifically, there are an estimated 13,600 harbor seals throughout inland Washington waters, with the Hood Canal and Southern Puget Sound stocks steadily increasing since 1999 (Jefferson et al., 2021). While the recovery of the harbor seal population can be seen as a conservation success, potential trophic level impacts have led scientists and fisheries managers to question the protected status of harbor seal populations in the Salish Sea (Nelson et al., 2020; Scordino, 2010).

As harbor seal numbers continue to climb, Pacific salmon stocks have significantly declined over the last century due to habitat loss and degradation, environmental fluctuations, and harvesting pressure (Lichatowich et al., 1999; NMFS, 1997; Nehlsen et al., 1991; Pacific Salmon Commision (PSC), 2015; Sobocinski et al., 2021). By 1991, 214 stocks of Pacific salmon were designated as high risk, moderate risk, or of special concern throughout the Pacific Northwest (Nehlsen et al., 1991). The total abundance of Chinook salmon (*O. tshawytscha*) in the Pacific Northwest has steadily decreased over the past several decades, from estimated

counts of around one million in 1984 to around 500,000 in 2018 (PSC, 2015). Additionally, nearly 30% of the 1400 historical populations of Pacific salmon have gone extinct in the Pacific Northwest since European colonization (Gustafson et al., 2007), and there are current widespread declines in productivity of wild chum salmon (*O. keta*) stocks in Washington and British Columbia (Malick & Cox, 2016).

Although not responsible for the decline in Pacific salmon populations, harbor seal predation may be hindering the recovery of depleted stocks (Chasco et al., 2017; Nelson et al., 2020; Sobocinski et al., 2021; Wargo Rub et al., 2019; Wright et al., 2007). Harbor seals are opportunistic predators whose diet varies depending on what prey is seasonally and locally abundant, with individuals aggregating in rivers and estuarine environments to forage on both out-migrating and spawning salmon (Adams et al., 2016; Allegue et al., 2020; NMFS, 1997). Throughout the Salish Sea, harbor seal haul-out sites and foraging ranges overlap spatially with depressed Pacific salmon runs, creating a potential for seal predation pressure to affect depleted stocks (NMFS, 1997). Adult Pacific salmon are most vulnerable to pinniped predation during their spawning migration through estuaries and river mouths, especially when the salmon are concentrated around anthropogenic bottlenecks such as human-made fish ladders (Bigg & Fisher, 1990; NMFS, 1997; Scordino, 2010). In response, management efforts are focused on finding effective methods to mitigate harbor seal predation on returning Pacific salmon in the Salish Sea (Nelson et al., 2020; Scordino, 2010).

To be effective, the intraspecific variation in foraging technique and success of individual harbor seals should be accounted for in management tools designed to mitigate seal predation on spawning salmon (Götz & Janik, 2016; Trites & Spitz, 2016). Harbor seals in the Salish Sea exhibit significant diet differences and utilize different foraging techniques, which varies across

location, sex, and body size (Bjorkland et al., 2015; Schwarz et al., 2018; Voelker et al., 2020). Further, there is global evidence that a small proportion of individual harbor seals choose to forage within rivers on salmonid species (Graham et al., 2011; Middlemas et al., 2006; Scordino, 2010; Wright et al., 2007). Some river specialists continually return to the same foraging site and are especially successful, classifying them as 'rogue' when compared to others in the same population (Freeman et al., 2022; Scordino, 2010). However, this intraspecific variation in foraging success has not yet been accounted for in the assessment of harbor seal predation management tools, such as TAST (Götz & Janik, 2016; Trites & Spitz, 2016).

In the fall of 2020, a TAST deterrent device was deployed near a salmon hatchery fish ladder at the mouth of Whatcom Creek in Bellingham, Washington, to deter harbor seals from preying on adult Pacific salmon. Prior long-term research at Whatcom Creek has identified harbor seals that reliably aggregate over multiple consecutive years during the fall adult salmon run (Farrer & Acevedo-Gutiérrez, 2010; Freeman et al., 2022). Among the individual harbor seals observed at Whatcom Creek, there is documented variability in foraging success as well as evidence of rogue individuals who are of particular management interest due to their heightened consumption of the salmon stock (Freeman et al., 2022). This provided a unique opportunity to assess the impacts of TAST on the foraging success of known individual harbor seals. TAST has been shown to successfully reduce the total number of seals foraging near the device (Bogaard, 2021; Götz & Janik, 2016; Williams, Ashe, Bogaard, et al., 2021), but this is the first study to assess if TAST successfully reduces the capture efficiency (number of fish eaten per seal) of the individuals that occur in the area.

In this study, I examined the hypothesis that the presence and foraging success of individual seals would be related to TAST status in the short-term, predicting fewer successes

and less time spent foraging for each individual seal when TAST was deployed compared to control conditions. Further, I examined the hypothesis that TAST would affect presence and foraging success of individuals in the long-term, predicting fewer successes and fewer days present per individual in the year TAST was deployed (2020) and the year after TAST was deployed (2021) compared to the baseline previous year (2019). To address these hypotheses, I used observational and photographic data from 2019-2021 to identify and relate individual seals to successful foraging attempts as a function of TAST status.

Methods

Study Site

Observations were conducted at the mouth of Whatcom Creek (48°45'17.5"N, 122°28'56.7"W) in downtown Bellingham, WA (Figure 1). The mouth of the creek is relatively small and is located within a public park, allowing for easy access via trails, elevated boardwalks, and sidewalks. The study site is influenced by tide and measures approximately 215 m in length, 25-58 m in width, and covers a surface area of approximately 7,225 m². The creek flows northeast to southwest from Lake Whatcom to Bellingham Bay and supports small wild runs of coho salmon (*O. kisutch*) and steelhead (*O. mykiss*). Furthermore, Whatcom Creek Hatchery, located on the northwestern bank of the study site, is run by the Bellingham Technical College and maintains a population of Chinook and a significantly larger population of chum salmon (Madsen & Nightengale, 2009; Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW), 2020). The adult chum salmon run occurs from October to December and reliably attracts a large number of harbor seals and fishers to the creek (Freeman et al., 2022). Due to low returns, the salmon fishing season was closed to anglers in the fall of 2020 and 2021.



Figure 1. Location of Whatcom Creek in the Salish Sea. The location where TAST was deployed is designated by the red teardrop. Observations were conducted at one of three locations, denoted by letters, all of which offer a clear view of the site. Location A was the location most frequently used by observers. Map courtesy of Liz Johnson.

TAST

Between October and November of 2020, researchers from Oceans Initiative, in collaboration with the Bellingham Technical College, the Whatcom Creek Hatchery, and the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW), deployed a TAST device at the base of the hatchery fish ladder in Whatcom Creek (Figure 1). The TAST device, approximately half a meter in height, consists of a control unit, transducer, and a power cable that is used to hang the transducer from a fixed point and lower it into the water (Williams, Ashe, Reiss, et al., 2021). The sound signal has a peak frequency of 0.95-1.0 kHz and a pulse duration of roughly 200 ms long with sharp rise times of <5 ms (Götz & Janik, 2015, 2016). The signal is sent out at roughly 2.4 pulses per min and is played at irregular or pseudorandom intervals (Götz & Janik, 2015).

The device was first deployed at the creek on October 26th, 2020 (Williams, Ashe, Reiss, et al., 2021). The transducer was lowered using a pulley system and was attached to the railing at the base of the hatchery fish ladder. The transducer was only lowered during high tide to fully submerge the instrument to its 1.5 m minimum operating depth (Williams, Ashe, Reiss, et al., 2021). The deployment of the device followed a Controlled Exposure Experimental design (Tyack et al., 2003), cycling between a three-days-on experimental treatment condition and one-day-off control condition during the 29 days until the final deployment on November 23rd, 2020 (Williams, Ashe, Reiss, et al., 2021).

Field Observations

Harbor seals consume small prey underwater but come to the surface to control and handle larger prey items, such as adult salmon (Freeman et al., 2022; Roffe & Mate, 1984; Wright et al., 2007). Thanks to this surface-feeding behavior, we were able to observe and record harbor seal foraging successes from the banks of Whatcom Creek. Between 2019-2021, an average of 4 observations a week (SD \pm 1.4 days, n = 111 observations) were conducted throughout the fall adult salmon runs (October – December). Observations were made by students from the Marine Mammal Ecology Lab at Western Washington University. Following the methods laid out in Freeman (2022), 2-3 students observed the creek for two hours around slack tides, when the tide shifts from low or high tide and the water is relatively still. Observations were made from one of three locations (Figure 1), depending on weather conditions, glare, and accessibility. At regular half-hour intervals, observers recorded TAST status (on or off), weather conditions (rainy, overcast, sunny, etc.), number of seals present, number of fish caught by seals, number of fishers present, and number of fish caught by fishers.

Throughout the two-hour observation, photos were taken of the right, left, and front side of each seal's face every time they surfaced (Freeman et al., 2022). Observers used two digital Cannon EOS 60D cameras, one with a 75-300mm lens and the other with a 100-400mm lens. Photos were used to identify *a posteriori* individual seals present during an observation. Observers also recorded the time, duration, and location of all harbor seals seen at the surface of the creek. Every salmon caught by a seal was noted and additional photographs were taken of the seal that was hunting and/or eating the salmon.

Additional observations were conducted by Oceans Initiative during TAST deployment in 2020. Researchers took photos opportunistically using a DSLR camera with a telephoto lens during observations between October 26 - November 23, 2020 (Williams, Ashe, Reiss, et al., 2021). Photographs collected by Oceans Initiative were compiled and included in the *a posteriori* photo identification analysis, as described below. To account for the added sampling effort in fall 2020, photos from Oceans Initiative were only included in the short-term 2020 analysis comparing experimental conditions (TAST on) to control conditions (TAST off). Photos from

Oceans Initiative were excluded in the long-term 2019-2021 analysis to reduce the likelihood of confounding variables. All short-term analyses were run with and without data collected by Oceans Initiative to ensure results were consistent despite variations in sampling effort. Further, observation length (min) and number of cameras present per observation were included as potential factors during statistical analyses to assess if sampling effort was a major driver of variation in fall 2020.

Salmon Occurrence

Salmon return data were provided by staff of the Whatcom Creek Hatchery. Return data consisted of counts of living and dead male and female chum, Chinook, and coho salmon present in the adult holding pool. Escapements were counted opportunistically on a near daily basis between October and December for 2019, 2020, and 2021. From the daily counts, a 5-day rolling average was calculated for each salmon run season to account for the days in which salmon were not counted by the hatchery. Similar to Freeman et al. (2022), these rolling averages were used as a rough estimate for relative salmon abundance in Whatcom Creek during field observations.

Photo Identification of Individual Seals

To identify individual seals, photos taken during the observation period were selected, cropped, and compared to an existing ID catalog. The catalog is comprised of all seals that have visited Whatcom Creek since 2011 and includes high quality photos of the left, front, and right side of each seal's face (Freeman et al., 2022). Using similar methods to those described in Freeman et al. (2022), seals were identified using the unique fur patterns on their face and any other distinguishing characteristics, such as eye color or the presence of scars (Harting et al., 2004; Thompson & Wheeler, 2008). For every minute of the observation period, photos were selected of each individual seal present and for each head position (left, right, and front), while considering focus and clarity. Selected photos were cropped to include only the individual seal's head. That individual was then identified manually by matching at least three unique features to an existing ID in the catalog, and each match was confirmed by at least two independent observers.

Photos were labeled with the ID of the seal, the date of the observation, the time the photo was taken, and the side of the seal's face. If the two independent observers confirmed that an individual did not match an existing ID, a new ID was created after high-quality photos of the right, front, and left side of its face were obtained. Partial new IDs with only the left-side angle of a seal's face were included in the analysis, but partial new IDs with only a right-side or front-side were removed to ensure no seal was double-counted. A photo was discarded as 'unidentifiable' if it was poor-quality, only showed unidentifiable features (i.e., the seal's back, flippers, or belly), or if the independent observers could not find and match at least three unique features.

Presence and Duration of Individual Seals

Selected, cropped, and identified photos were used to quantify an individual seal's presence in Whatcom Creek, and subsequently their number of foraging attempts during 2019-2021. An individual seal was considered present during a field observation if at least one photo was successfully selected and identified within that two-hour period. Seal presence in the creek was considered a foraging attempt for that individual seal. Prior long-term research indicates that harbor seals are most abundant in Whatcom Creek during the fall adult chum salmon run, with

significantly fewer seals, if any, present during the rest of the year (Farrer & Acevedo-Gutiérrez, 2010; Freeman et al., 2022). Additionally, harbor seals have searched, pursued, captured, and consumed adult salmon every year during the fall run since observations began in 2011 (Freeman et al., 2022). Thus, it is reasonable to consider each visit to the creek a foraging attempt for that individual, allowing us to compare foraging attempts and successes for individuals across TAST status.

To get a proxy for duration (the time that each individual seal foraged at Whatcom Creek within an observation), each minute an individual was successfully identified was tallied as a single 'surface count'. That is, every time an individual seal surfaced, a photo was taken, identified, and attributed as one 'surface count' for that individual. Surface counts were tallied on a minute increment based on when the identified photo was taken. On average, a single seal at the creek spends 21.7s (SD \pm 14.9s, n = 1071 observations) at the surface, so it is reasonable to count each minute as a separate surface count. Henceforth, I refer to these surface counts as duration in minutes. Thus, by photographing and identifying individual seals at every surfacing event, I was able to unambiguously determine the relative amount of time that each individual remained at the creek and compare it to TAST status.

Foraging Success of Individual Seals

Following Freeman et al. (2022), a foraging success was defined as a successful foraging attempt in which a seal was seen actively eating a salmon at the surface. Foraging successes were recorded in the field and confirmed *a posteriori* using photographic evidence. Photos were analyzed to determine if a seal had procured an adult salmon, and that seal was then identified and credited with a foraging success for that observation.

At times, seals were associated with multiple foraging successes, meaning the same individual captured and consumed multiple salmon throughout the same observation period. Multiple foraging successes were summarized as 'number of catches', or number of salmon caught per seal. Associating number of catches to an individual had inherent difficulties. Harbor seals require several minutes to consume large adult salmon, and surface many times consuming the same prey item (Carter et al., 2001). Furthermore, observers frequently witnessed seals stealing from others, sharing a single prey item amongst many seals, or dropping prey before it was fully consumed. Therefore, it was not always possible to distinguish when a new adult salmon was captured by the same individual. To account for this challenge, I employed a conservative standard of 25 min to determine the number of fish caught per individual seal per observation. This standard was based on a sample of observations of surface-feeing time made between 2019-2021 at the study site (mean = 14.5 min, max = 25 min, $SD \pm 5.8$ min, n = 17 observations). As such, a seal would only be attributed with a second catch if a salmon was seen in the seal's mouth 25 min after that individual's first foraging success. While this standard is conservative, it accounts for cases of sharing and stealing and allows for number of catches to serve as a proxy for number of salmon caught and consumed during an observation.

Site Fidelity of Individual Seals Across Years

Each individual seal that was identified during the 2019 - 2021 run seasons was grouped according to their across-years site fidelity. I defined site fidelity as an individual harbor seal returning over more than one year to forage on salmon at Whatcom Creek. Using data collected by the Marine Mammal Ecology Lab from 2011-2018 (Freeman et al., 2022), seals were grouped as either 'Returners' or 'New' for each year in the study. 'Returners' were seals that had been observed foraging at Whatcom Creek for at least one day in years prior to 2019. Seals were classified as 'New' if they were observed and identified for the first time in 2019, 2020, or 2021. An individual seal could be classified as 'New' in 2019 and then, if observed again in one or both of the following years, would subsequently be classified as a 'Returner' for 2020 and/or 2021.

Statistical Analysis of Short - Term Effects of TAST: Fall 2020

The presence, duration, and number of foraging successes for each individual harbor seal was compared across TAST on and off days in fall 2020. TAST was deployed from October 26th to November 23rd. Seal observations within this window were assessed to compare experimental treatments (TAST on) to control treatments (TAST off). To balance the dataset, I included the observation that was conducted prior to the first deployment of TAST and the observation that was conducted after the last deployment of TAST, resulting in an experimental window that spanned the peak of the salmon run season: October 25th – November 25th, 2020. Within this window, 27 days of observations were conducted, however there were three days in which two observations occurred (one conducted by the Marine Mammal Ecology Lab, the other by Oceans Initiative), resulting in 30 observational periods. Of those 30 observations, 14 were conducted when TAST was off and 16 were conducted when TAST was on.

Effect on the Presence and Duration of Individual Seals

All statistical analyses were conducted using R statistical software version 4.1.0 (R Core Team, 2020). To test if TAST impacted the presence and duration of individuals at Whatcom Creek, a permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) was conducted on the 30 observational samples at Whatcom Creek in fall 2020. Each ID (n=98) was a part of a multivariate response matrix, with their duration as the 'abundance' of that individual per observation. PERMANOVA was performed to test the hypothesis that the centroids of each TAST status as defined in Bray-Curtis dissimilarity multivariate space were equivalent using the 'adonis' function in the 'Vegan' R package (J. Oksanen et al., 2020). Prior to the PERMANOVA, the homogeneity of multivariate dispersion across TAST status was assessed using the 'betadisper' function from the 'Vegan' package in R (J. Oksanen et al., 2020).

To visualize the difference in harbor seal community composition across observations, I performed nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS), a multivariate ordination technique that can handle non-normal ecological data for community analysis (Clarke, 1993). NMDS projects the observation samples onto ordination space in two dimensions based on the rank dissimilarity using Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index. The goodness of fit for the NMDS projection was determined by evaluating the stress value, and the lowest stress value was selected after 20 runs. Environmental variables of TAST status, tide height, 5-day rolling average of salmon counts, and total number of seals observed per observational sample were fit using the 'envfit' function in the 'Vegan' package in R (Oksanen et al., 2020).

A generalized linear mixed-effect model (GLMM) with a negative binomial distribution was used to predict the duration for each individual across TAST on and TAST off observations using the 'glmer.nb' function from the 'lme4' Package in R (Bates et al., 2015). Candidate generalized linear models (GLMs) made during the model fitting process were created using the 'glm.nb' function from the 'MASS' package in R (Venables & Ripley, 2002). TAST status (on or off) was the only fixed factor included in this analysis, as it was the only predictor I was interested in assessing. The 5-day rolling average of salmon counts, tide height, seal ID (n=98)

Julian date (n=27), length of observation (min), and number of cameras (n=3) were included as potential random effects. GLMMs are robust and flexible and allow for the analysis of nonnormal data as well as the analysis of random factors (Bolker et al., 2009; Zuur et al., 2009). A negative binomial distribution was selected due the data being over dispersed, which was determined using the 'check_overdispersion' function from the 'performance' package in R (Lüdecke et al., 2021). Adjusted R² values for the GLMMs were calculated using the 'rsq' package in R (Zhang, 2022), and model assumptions were validated by assessing residual plots. The best fit and most parsimonious model was chosen using Akaike Information Criteria (AIC) as a comparative measure of model quality. Coefficients of the final model were exponentiated to aid with interpretation and extrapolation of effect size. The variation in duration across the levels of the random effect (seal ID) was plotted using the 'plot_model' function from the 'sjPlot' package in R (Lüdecke, 2021).

I used simple chi-squared analyses to investigate if prior seal fidelity to site impacted the presence of individuals in Whatcom Creek when TAST was on. To determine the relationship between prior seal site fidelity and presence, I used two 2x4 contingency tables to compare the number of days an individual was seen to its status as either a new or returning seal. In the first table, all seals (n=98 individuals) were categorized as either 'New' or 'Returners' and were grouped into four levels of presence in 2020 based on number of days observed: 1-2 days, 3-4 days, 5-6 days, and 7+ days. The second 2x4 contingency table assessed the relationship between prior site fidelity and the proportion of days an individual was observed when TAST was on out of the total number of days observed for that individual. Proportion of days observed was divided into four levels: 0.0-0.24, 0.25-0.49, 0.5-0.74, and 0.75-1.0, with a value of 0 meaning an individual was never observed when TAST was on. Chi-squared tests were conducted for both

tables as the expected values of at least 80% of the cells were \geq 5 (McHugh, 2013). The standardized residuals for both Chi-squared tests were assessed to determine if presence was significantly higher (positive residual values) or significantly lower (negative residual values) than expected across seal fidelity status. Residual values greater than |1.96| were considered significant (Agresti, 2007).

Effect on the Foraging Success of Individual Seals

GLMMs with a Poisson distribution and a logarithmic link function were used to predict the overall foraging success of seals in the creek using the 'glmer' function from the 'lme4' package in R (Bates et al., 2015). Only seals that were observed when the TAST was on and off, and therefore had foraging attempts across TAST status, were included in the analysis (n=55 individuals). This allowed me to compare how foraging success under experimental conditions differed from foraging success under control conditions for each individual seal. The fixed factor predictors in the final GLMM included TAST status (on/off) and the log number of days each individual seal was observed across on or off observations. Seal ID was included as a random intercept in the final model. The number of days seals were observed was log transformed to normalize the data and improve the residuals. To ensure the added sampling effort from Oceans Initiative did not drive the observed variation in seal foraging success, the mean observation length (min) for each seal was also assessed during model fitting and was found to be an insignificant predictor of foraging success (z=0.488, p=0.63).

The best-fit and most parsimonious model was chosen using AIC as a comparative measure of model quality. Coefficients of the final model were exponentiated and used to extrapolate the effect size of TAST on foraging success. The random effects were plotted using

the 'plot_model' function from the 'sjPlot' package in R (Lüdecke, 2021). Model assumptions were validated using residual plots. Overdispersion was assessed by the 'check_overdispersion' function from the 'performance' package in R (Lüdecke et al., 2021), and no overdispersion was detected in the final model (X^2 = 67.27, p=0.999). Data were checked for zero-inflation using the 'check_zeroinflation' function from the 'performance' package (Lüdecke et al., 2021), and the ratio of predicted zeros (57) to observed zeros (59) was within the tolerance range.

Chi-squared analyses were used to investigate if prior site fidelity impacted the foraging success of individual seals when TAST was on. I used 2x2 and 2x4 contingency tables to compare the foraging success of an individual to its status as either a new seal or returning seal. For the 2x2 table, seals were classified as either 'New' or 'Returners' and categorized as either 'successful' or 'not successful' in 2020, with successful meaning that the individual caught and consumed at least one salmon. For the 2x4 contingency table, seals were further divided into four categories according to when their successful foraging event or events were observed: only when TAST was on (Success_On), only when TAST was off (Success_Off), both when TAST was on and off (Success_Both), or no success observed (Success_None). Chi-squared tests were conducted for both tables as the expected values of at least 80% of the cells were \geq 5, and the standardized residuals were assessed, with values greater than |1.96| considered significant (Agresti, 2007; McHugh, 2013).

Statistical Analysis of Long- Term Effects of TAST: 2019, 2020, 2021

Effect on Individual Seals

The presence and number of foraging successes for each individual harbor seal was compared across three separate run seasons: fall 2019, 2020, and 2021. To assess if there was a

relationship between exposure to TAST in 2020 and the likelihood that an individual seal would return in 2021, I used simple chi-squared analysis and a 2x2 contingency table. Individuals that were observed in 2020 were grouped into two TAST exposure levels: 'exposed' or 'not exposed'. An individual present at least once during an observation when TAST was on was grouped as 'exposed', and individuals that were never present during a TAST-on observation were grouped as 'not exposed'. I then determined if those individuals were present or absent in 2021. Similarly, chi-squared analysis was used to assess if prior site fidelity of seals impacted the likelihood that an individual would return to the creek in 2021. Individuals were categorized as either 'New' or 'Returners' for 2020 based on prior observations between 2011-2019. Those individuals were then determined to be either present or absent in 2021.

Spearman correlation was used to determine if the number of catches in 2020 per ID was significantly correlated to number of catches in 2021 per ID using the 'cor.test' function from the 'stats' package in R (R Core Team, 2020). Spearman correlation was selected because the distribution of the data were not normal, as determined by the 'shapiro.test' from the 'stats' package in R (R Core Team, 2020). Chi-squared analysis on a 2x2 contingency square was used to assess if TAST exposure in 2020 had a significant association with foraging success in 2021. All individuals that were present in 2021 were categorized as either exposed or not exposed to TAST in 2020. I then determined if those individuals had a recorded foraging success throughout all 2021 observations. All chi-squared tests were conducted using the 'chisq.test' function in R and the standardized residuals were assessed to determine significance.

Overall Effect on all Seals

Across the peak run seasons for 2019, 2020, and 2021, the total number of seals were counted per day and the total number of salmon caught was summed across all seals per observation. This allowed me to compare how TAST affected the overall number of seals present per observation and the total number of salmon consumed by all seals across years. In fall 2020, TAST was deployed during the height of the salmon run season, from October 26^{th} – November 23^{rd} . To assess the varying effects across years, only the height of each season was compared. For each year, only the observations within 20 days around the peak of the salmon run were included. The peak of the salmon run for each year, as determined by the highest daily count of adult salmon in the hatchery holding pond, was 11/13/2019, 11/16/2020, and 11/17/2021. Therefore, the data compared across years included observations between 11/3/2019 - 11/23/2019, 11/6/2020 - 11/26/2020, and 11/7/2021 - 11/27/2021 (Figure 2). Within these windows, 9 observations were conducted in 2019, 15 observations in 2020, and 7 were conducted when TAST was off, and 7 were conducted when TAST was on.


Figure 2. Total number of seals seen per observation for 2019, 2020, and 2021. Vertical lines represent the cut offs for each experimental window per year. Experimental windows included the 20 days around the peak of the fall salmon run for each year. TAST status is denoted by fill.

Generalized Linear Models (GLMs) with negative binomial distribution were used to statistically assess the effects of TAST across years. The first model was used to predict the total number of seals present per observation for the 2019-2021 peak run seasons. Negative binomial distribution was selected for this model to address the overdispersion in the dataset, which was determined using the 'check_overdispersion' function from the 'performance' package in R (Lüdecke et al., 2021). The second model was used to predict the total number of foraging successes (salmon caught) by all seals present per observation for the 2019-2021 peak run seasons. Similarly, a negative binomial distribution was selected to address the issue of overdispersion. For both models, TAST status (before, on, off, during) was the only fixed factor included, as it was the only predictor I was interested in assessing. Data were also assessed for zero-inflation using the 'check_zeroinflation' function from the 'performance' package (Lüdecke et al., 2021). Adjusted R² values for the GLM were calculated using the 'rsq' package in R (Zhang, 2022), and model assumptions were validated by assessing residual plots.

Results

Short-term Effects of TAST: Fall 2020

Effect on the Presence and Duration of Individual Seals

Within the experimental window from October 25, 2020, to November 25, 2020, TAST was on for 16 observations and off for 14 observations. Across the 30 observations, 12,254 photos were selected and 11,871 of those photos were successfully identified (96.9%), resulting in a total of 98 unique harbor seals identified at Whatcom Creek. Approximately 66% of the 98 individuals were seen for multiple days throughout the window and 33% were only seen once during the experimental window. Overall, 56% of individuals were observed both when the

TAST was on and off, with 32% only present when TAST was off. At least one California sea lion (*Zalophus californianus*) was observed 22 times across 3 observations, almost entirely when TAST was on.

Observations that were conducted by the Marine Mammal Ecology Lab prior to the first deployment of TAST identified 18 individual seals present in Whatcom Creek across 12 observations in October 2020. Of those 18 individuals, all but one (ID 0017) returned at some point during the TAST experimental window and 15 experienced a TAST exposure, meaning they were identified as present during a TAST-on observation. Of the 98 individuals observed during the experimental window, 31 seals were never identified as present in the creek when TAST was on, meaning, to the best of our knowledge, those individuals were never exposed to the device (Figure 3). The remaining 67 individuals were observed foraging in Whatcom Creek during at least one observation period in which TAST was deployed and on (Figure 3). Of those 67 individuals, 10 were not observed again at Whatcom Creek after their initial exposure to TAST (Figure 3). Most individuals (58% of the 98 seals identified, 85% of the 67 exposed seals) were present in the creek on at least one separate observation day after their first exposure to TAST (Figure 4). Of those 57 individuals that returned, 12 of them were only observed foraging on subsequent days when TAST was off (Figure 3, 4).



Figure 3. Bar plot showing the number of individual harbor seals in 2020 that were present in Whatcom Creek during TAST deployment ('Exposed') compared to those that were never observed during TAST deployment ('Never Exposed'). Exposed individuals are further divided based on their presence in the creek after initial exposure: those that returned in subsequent days when TAST was on ('Yes – TAST on and off'), those that returned in subsequent days but only when TAST was off ('Yes – TAST off only'), and those that did not return after initial exposure to TAST ('No').

Of the 98 individuals identified in 2020, 46% experienced repeated exposures to TAST, meaning they were observed on at least two separate TAST-on observation days. The overall number of days that these individuals returned to Whatcom Creek varied greatly (mean=6.3 days, $SD \pm 4.9$ days, n=45; Figure 4). Specifically, four individuals were only present for two observations, both with TAST on, and then were not recorded foraging at the creek for the remainder of fall 2020 (IDs 0101, 0178, 0186, and 0201). On the other hand, some individuals returned regularly to the creek, both when TAST was on and off. For example, ID 0173 was present foraging at the creek on 19 separate occasions after its first TAST exposure, 12 days of which were when TAST was on. Of the 45 individuals that returned when TAST was on, over half (55%) returned for three or more separate TAST-on observation periods, with 3 individuals (IDs 0121, 0172, 0173) returning for 10 or more TAST-on observations (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Histograms showing the number of TAST-on or TAST-off days exposed seals (n=67) returned to Whatcom Creek in fall 2020 after initial TAST exposure.

The duration (min) that individuals remained foraging in Whatcom Creek varied greatly for each individual harbor seal. On average, individual seals spent 34.5% less time in Whatcom Creek during TAST-on observations compared to TAST-off observations (Figure 5). ID 0173 was observed most frequently, with an average duration of 33 min across 22 observation days (Figure 5). On the other hand, numerous individuals were recorded at the creek for only one minute, including ID 0256 and ID 0185, both of which were observed when TAST was off. Individuals 0075 and 0236 recorded the longest average durations across TAST-off observations (63 min and 40 min respectively), but neither individual was observed during TAST-on observations (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Violin plots showing the distribution for the average duration (min) that each individual harbor seal remained in the creek across TAST statuses in fall 2020. A boxplot for each distribution is overlaid, showing the median duration across all individuals and the first and third quartile. The three top outliers, IDs 0075, 0236, and 0173 are labeled. IDs 0075 and 0236 were never observed when TAST was on.

A PERMANOVA test using Bray-Curtis dissimilarity measure indicated that the duration individuals foraged at the creek was significantly different across TAST status ($F_{(1,28)}$ = 2.544, p=0.002) (Table 1). Similar results were identified after the removal of singletons, or individuals who were only observed for one min in 2020 ($F_{(1,23)}$ = 2.544, p=0.001). NMDS on the duration for each ID per observation showed that dissimilarity was high for observations conducted in fall 2020 (Stress = 0.15). NMDS analysis also showed that observations of seals at Whatcom Creek clustered in ordination space and that the clusters were associated with TAST status (Figure 6). Further, 'envfit' analysis showed that various environmental variables were significantly associated with the clustering of observations, including TAST ($r^2=0.14$, p=0.015), tide height $(r^2=0.26, p=0.022)$, the 5-day rolling average of salmon counts $(r^2=0.22, p=0.033)$, and the total number of seals present per observation ($r^2=0.26$, p=0.015). The length of observation (min) and the number of cameras present were not significant environmental variables ($r^2=0.05$, p=0.51; $r^2=0.11$, p=0.17 respectively), suggesting added sampling effort from Oceans Initiative did not drive the dissimilarity in duration across observations. Further, PERMANOVA analysis conducted without added observations from Oceans Initiative found similar results, showing that the duration individuals foraged was significantly different across TAST status ($F_{(1,20)}$ = 1.75, p=0.034).

Table 1. Analysis of distance showing the effects of TAST on individual seal presence and duration (min) at Whatcom Creek in 2020. The table was generated using permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA). Bolded p-values denote significance.

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F	R^2	P value
TAST (on/off)	1	0.85	0.85	2.54	0.08	0.002
Residuals	28	9.33	0.33	-	0.92	



Figure 6. Nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) results showing the comparison in individual harbor seal duration at Whatcom Creek. Each data point is a single observation during the experimental window in fall 2020. TAST in overlaid as an environmental factor at the location of the centroids, and gray fill denotes TAST-on and off observations. Stress = 0.15. Two convergent solutions were found after 20 iterations.

GLMM analysis with negative binomial distribution was used to determine if TAST was a good predictor of individual harbor seal duration in Whatcom Creek. The final, most parsimonious GLMM predicted duration (min) by TAST status (on or off), with seal ID as a random intercept (Table 2). For fall 2020, TAST-on significantly decreased the average duration (min) individuals spent in the creek per observation (z=-3.773, p<0.001) (Table 3). The estimate for effect size as determined by the model indicate that TAST-on decreased individual duration by 30% compared to TAST-off (Table 3). Seal ID as a random intercept improved model fit and accounted for 42.3% of the variation in the data (Figure S1). The same analysis was conducted using only Marine Mammal Ecology Lab observational data to ensure added sampling effort from Oceans Initiative did not drive the observed effect, and TAST-on still significantly decreased individual seal duration (z=-2.236, p=0.025).

Of the 98 individuals present during the experimental window, 49 were classified as returning seals and 49 were classified as new seals in 2020. There was no significant association between prior seal fidelity to Whatcom Creek ('Returners' vs 'New') and the number of days (1-2, 3-4, 5-6, 7+ days) that an individual was present in fall 2020 (χ^2 =3.59, p=0.31) (Table S1). Further, there was no significant association between prior site fidelity ('Returners' vs. 'New') and proportion of TAST-on days (0.0-0.24, 0.25-0.49, 0.5-0.74, 0.75-1.0) an individual was observed (χ^2 =0.47, p=0.92) (Table S2).

Table 2. Model selection of generalized linear mixed-models (GLMMs) analysis with a negative binomial distribution, degrees of freedom, R^2 , Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), and delta AIC (Δ AIC) values for duration that harbor seals remained at Whatcom Creek in fall 2020. TAST status (on or off) is included as a fixed independent variable, with 5-day rolling average of salmon counts, tide height, Julian date (n=27), number of cameras used (n=3), length of observation, and seal ID (n=98) as potential random intercepts.

Model	df	R ²	AIC	ΔAIC
Candidate (GLM)				
Duration ~ TAST	3	0.01	2997.1	91.3
Candidate (GLMM)				
Duration ~ TAST + (1 Salmon 5-day average)	4	0.05	2981.5	75.7
Duration ~ TAST + (1 Tide height)	4	0.04	2978.7	72.9
Duration ~ TAST + $(1 Date)$	4	0.05	2982.1	76.3
Duration ~ TAST + $(1 Camera)$	4	0.01	2992.6	86.8
Duration ~ TAST + (1 Length)	4	0.06	2981.2	75.4
Final Model (GLMM)				
Duration $\sim TAST + (1 ID)$	4	0.22	2905.8	0

Table 3. GLMM with negative binomial distribution output for the final, most parsimonious model describing the total number of surface counts (proxy for duration in min) for each individual harbor seals per observation at Whatcom Creek during the experimental window in 2020. Significant p-values (<0.05) are designated in bold.

Model: Duration (min) ~ TAST + (1 ID)						
Variable	Estimate	Std Error	z-value	P value		
TAST ON	-0.352	0.093	-3.773	<0.001		

Effect on the Foraging Success of Individual Seals

During the 95 observational hours throughout the experimental window, approximately 148 spawning salmon were consumed by 38 individual harbor seals (39% of the 98 seals identified). Of the 38 successful individuals, most (87%) continued to return and forage at Whatcom Creek after being exposed to TAST, with a large proportion (76%) returning across multiple TAST-on observations.

Overall, foraging success varied greatly per individual and was not consistent across TAST status (Figure 7). A total of 55 individual seals were observed foraging at the creek both when the TAST was on and off, 33 of which caught at least one salmon (Figure 7). Of those 33 individuals, 16 (48%) consumed more salmon when TAST was on, 14 (42%) individuals consumed more salmon when the TAST was off, and 3 individuals consumed the same number of salmon regardless of TAST (Figure 7). Eight individuals were only ever observed consuming a salmon when TAST was on, and 7 individuals were only ever observed consuming a salmon when TAST was off (Figure 7).



Figure 7. The proportion of successful predation events with TAST on for individual seals (n=33) during the experimental window at Whatcom Creek in 2020. Proportion is defined as the number of salmon consumed per individual when TAST was on or off out of the total number of salmon consumed for that individual. Positive proportion values indicate a greater proportion of salmon consumed when TAST was ON, whereas negative proportion values indicate a decrease in relative predation successes when TAST was ON. Individuals with a value of +1.0 were only observed consuming salmon when TAST was ON, and individuals with a value of -1.0 were only observed consuming salmon when TAST was ON.

The most parsimonious GLMM predicting the total number of foraging successes included TAST and the log-transformed number of days with ID as a random intercept (Table 4). When accounting for the number of days each individual was present, TAST-on significantly reduced the number of salmon caught and consumed by individual seals (n=55, p=0.0165; Table 5). The estimate for effect size as determined by the model indicated that there were 35.5% fewer foraging successes by individuals when TAST was on compared to when TAST was off (Table 5). The log number of days each seal was observed significantly increased the number of salmon caught and consumed by individuals (p < 0.001) (Table 5). Seal ID as a random intercept improved model fit and accounted for 44.6% of the variation in the data (Figure S2).

I investigated if prior seal site fidelity to Whatcom Creek ('Returner' vs 'New') was associated with individual foraging success in fall 2020 (successful yes or no) and I found no significant relationship between these two variables (χ^2 =1.07, p=0.30; Table S5). Further, there was no significant relationship between prior seal fidelity and when seals caught and consumed salmon across TAST status (χ^2 =3.49, p=0.32; Table S6).

Table 4. Model selection of GLMM analysis for the foraging success of individual harbor seals seen at Whatcom Creek in fall 2020. Number of days observed (nDays), TAST status (on or off), and mean observation length (min) are included as possible fixed factors, with ID of individual seals (ID, n=55) included as a random intercept.

Model	df	R ²	AIC	ΔAIC
Candidate Models (GLM)				
Sum Catches ~ nDays	2	0.216	331.5	58.3
Sum Catches ~ mean Length	2	0.0002	429.2	156.0
Sum Catches ~ TAST	2	0.0002	429.4	156.2
Sum Catches ~ TAST + nDays	3	0.218	330.9	57.7
Sum Catches ~ TAST + $log(nDays)$	3	0.341	295.6	22.4
Candidate Model (GLMM)				
Sum Catches ~ $nDays + TAST + (1 ID)$	4	0.767	294.4	21.2
Final Model (GLMM)				
Sum Catches $\sim \log(nDays) + TAST + (1 ID)$	4	0.790	273.2	0

Table 5. GLMM model output for the final, most parsimonious model describing the total number of salmon caught and consumed by individual harbor seals at Whatcom Creek in 2020. Significant p-values (p < 0.05) are indicated in bold.

Variable	Estimate	Std Error	z-value	P value
TAST on	-0.439	0.190	-2.314	0.0206
log(nDays)	1.652	0.222	7.456	<<0.001

Long-term Effects of TAST: 2019, 2020, and 2021

During October and December of 2019-2021, 102 observations were conducted for 204 hours. A total of 119 unique individual harbor seals were observed, 41% of which were observed over multiple years. There were several individuals who were only present in one year, with 15 individuals (12.6%) only seen in 2019, 41 (34.5%) only seen in 2020, and 16 (13.4%) only seen in 2021. Of the 119 individuals seen between 2019-2021, 19 (16.0%) were seen in all three years and 13 (10.9%) were seen across both when TAST was on and off in 2020 (Table S3). Of those 13 individuals, only 1 seal (ID 0117) had a successful foraging event across all four TAST statuses (Table S3).

Adult salmon returned to spawn every year during the study, with run size peaking in mid-November (Figure 8). Salmon consistently arrived in mid-October and ran until early December. Between 2019-2021, most salmon that returned were chum salmon (91.9%), however a greater number of Chinook salmon returned in 2021 (50.9% Chinook, 38.7% chum). The run size varied greatly by year, with the greatest number of salmon returning in 2020 (1,885 total chum, Chinook, and coho salmon counted) and the fewest returning in 2021 (395 total chum, Chinook, and coho salmon counted) (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Total salmon escapement counts at the Whatcom Creek Hatchery between October and December of 2019, 2020, and 2021. Counts include all chum, Chinook, and coho salmon present in the adult holding pool. The 5-day rolling average calculated for each year is overlaid in the black dashed line.

Effect on Individual Seals

Of the 98 individual harbor seals observed during the TAST experimental window in fall 2020 (October 29th – November 25th), 41 individuals (42%) returned to Whatcom Creek between October and December of 2021. Chi-squared analyses identified an association between TAST exposure in 2020 and the probability that an individual seal would return the following year (2021). All seals that were observed in 2020, including those observed by Oceans Initiative, were classified as either 'not-exposed' or 'exposed' to TAST, with exposure meaning the seals were observed for one or more days while the TAST was deployed and turned on (Table 6). There was a significant association between exposure and likelihood to return, but it was slight ($\chi^2_{(1,n=98)} = 3.87$, p=0.049; Table 6). Residuals showed that seals exposed to TAST in 2020 were significantly more likely to return in 2021 than expected, whereas seals not exposed to TAST in 2020 were significantly less likely to return in 2021 (Table 6).

Table 6. Chi-squared test for 2x2 contingency table of exposure level to TAST in 2020 relative to individual seals returning in 2021. 'Exposed' includes all individuals observed for 1 day or more at Whatcom Creek while TAST was on, whereas 'Not Exposed' includes all individuals that were never observed at Whatcom Creek with TAST on. Significant residual values are bolded (>|1.96|). Positive residuals indicate a higher than expected number of returns in 2021, and negative residuals indicate a lower than expected number of returns in 2021.

	Exposed	Not Exposed	Total
Present 2021	33	8	41
Absent 2021	34	23	57
Total Seen in 2020	67	31	98

χ^2	Р	Not Exposed:Present	Exposed:Present
3.87	0.049	-2.188	2.188

Additionally, chi-squared analyses identified a significant association between seal site fidelity and the likelihood an individual would return in 2021 ($\chi^2_{(1,n=98)} = 6.04$, p=0.014; Table 7). 'Returners' were significantly more likely to return in 2021 than expected (Table 7). Alternatively, 'New' seals, or seals that were first observed in 2020, were significantly less likely to return in 2021 than expected (Table 7). Of the 49 returners present in 2020, over half (55%) were present in 2021, whereas only 29% of the new individuals present in 2020 returned in 2021. **Table 7.** Chi-squared test for 2x2 contingency table of seal fidelity status in 2020 relative to individual seals returning in 2021. 'New' indicates individuals that were observed at Whatcom Creek for the first time in 2020, whereas 'Returner' indicates individuals that were observed at least once between 2014-2019 at Whatcom Creek. Significant residual values are bolded (>|1.96|). Positive residuals indicate a higher than expected number of returns in 2021, and negative residuals indicate a lower than expected number of returns in 2021.

	New	Returner	Total
Present 2021	14	27	41
Absent 2021	35	22	57
Total Seen in 2020	49	49	98

χ^2	Р	New:Present	Returner:Present
6.04	0.014	-2.66	2.66

Overall, 55 individual seals were observed in 2021, 18 of which (33%) caught and consumed at least one salmon. Of the 18 successful seals in 2021, 16 were present in 2020. Further, 12 of the 18 (67%) successful seals in 2021 had at least one recorded foraging success in 2020. There was a significant positive correlation between catches in 2020 and catches in 2021 ($r_{(112)}=0.39$, p<0.001). When assessed further, there was a significant correlation between number of catches when TAST was off in 2020 and number of catches in 2021 per ID ($r_{(110)}=0.25$, p=0.007). However, there was an insignificant correlation between the number of catches when TAST was on in 2020 and the number of catches in 2021 per ID ($r_{(110)}=0.17$, p=0.07). Chi-squared analysis showed no significant association between TAST exposure in 2020 and the likelihood an individual had at least one successful foraging event in 2021 ($\chi^2_{(1,n=55)}$ = 2.51, p=0.113; Table S4). However, over half (52%) of the individuals who experienced repeat exposures in 2020 (observed for two or more TAST-on days) had a successful foraging event in 2021.

Overall Effect on all Seals

Total seal numbers and total salmon caught by seals were compared across observations during the peak run seasons for 2019, 2020, and 2021. On average, the greatest number of seals foraged at Whatcom Creek in 2020 when TAST was off, compared to the year before (2019), the year after (2021), and when TAST was on (2020) (Figure 9). Similarly, more salmon were consumed on average in 2020 when TAST was off compared to the year before, the year after, and same year when TAST was on (Figure 10).



Figure 9. Violin plots showing the total number of seals observed per observation across each TAST status: before (2019), ON (2020), OFF (2020), and after (2021). Each season is truncated to include only observations in the 20 days around the peak of the salmon run.



Figure 10. Violin plots showing the total number of salmon caught by seals per observation across each TAST status: before (2019), ON (2020), OFF (2020), and after (2021). Each season is truncated to include only observations in the 20 days around the peak of the salmon run.

A GLM analysis with negative binomial distribution showed no significant relationship between TAST and number of seals present per observation during the 2019-2021 peak run seasons ($R^2=0.16$; Table 8). Further, GLM analysis with binomial distribution showed no significant relationship between TAST and the number of salmon caught per observation during the 2019-2021 peak run seasons ($R^2=0.12$; Table 9). TAST did not significantly drive the variation in seal numbers or foraging successes observed between years.

Table 8. GLM with negative binomial distribution output describing the total number of harbor seals observed at Whatcom Creek during the peak salmon runs from 2019-2021 as predicted by TAST status (before -2019, on -2020, off -2020, after -2021).

Model: Total Seals ~ TAST				
Variable	Estimate	Std Error	t-value	P value
TAST before	-0.2747	0.2068	-1.328	0.184
TAST OFF	0.2615	0.2034	1.285	0.199
TAST ON	-0.2789	0.2239	-1.246	0.213

Table 9. GLM with negative binomial distribution output describing the total number of salmon caught by all harbor seals per observation at Whatcom Creek during the peak salmon runs from 2019-2021 as predicted by TAST status (before -2019, on -2020, off -2020, after -2021).

Model: Total Salmon Caught ~ TAST						
Variable	Estimate	Std Error	t-value	P value		
TAST before	-0.8303	0.4408	-1.884	0.060		
TAST OFF	0.2384	0.4081	0.584	0.559		
TAST ON	-0.5219	0.4583	-1.139	0.255		

Discussion

Short-term Effects of TAST

In the fall of 2020, TAST had a significant impact on individual presence and duration in Whatcom Creek. PERMANOVA and NMDS tests indicated that seal community composition significantly differed across TAST status (on or off), suggesting that TAST was a significant driver of individual seal presence and duration (Table 1, Figure 6). Further, GLMM analysis showed a significant relationship between TAST and the duration that individuals foraged at the creek, with TAST-on decreasing individual duration by 30% compared to TAST-off (Table 3).

While there was a significant impact of TAST on duration (min), several seals continued to return to the creek despite TAST exposure. Throughout the experimental window, 85% of exposed individuals returned to forage at the creek on at least one subsequent observation day, with 67% of exposed seals returning for an additional TAST-on observation (Tables 3 and 4). Notably, IDs 0121, 0172, and 0173 were all observed for 10 or more TAST-on observations after their initial exposure. This suggests that even repeat exposures to TAST did not deter all individuals from returning to the creek, although their average duration may have been reduced with TAST deployed (Figure 5). This is in sharp contrast to 22 individual seals that, after an initial exposure to TAST, were never observed foraging at the creek while TAST was on for the remainder of fall 2020. While it is possible those 22 individuals returned to forage at the creek outside of our observation windows, those visits would have only occurred when TAST was off as all TAST-on periods had observers present. This finding suggests that TAST successfully deterred those individuals from foraging in Whatcom Creek while the device was on.

When comparing the foraging success of all individuals that were observed in Whatcom Creek during experimental conditions (TAST on) and control conditions (TAST off), the effect

of TAST was even more variable. Some individual harbor seals were strongly affected by TAST, meaning their foraging success decreased when TAST was on, and others were seemingly unaffected (Figure 7). Contrary to my hypothesis, 16 of the 33 successful seals caught and consumed more salmon when TAST was on, despite being observed foraging in the creek when TAST was off (Figure 7). That said, when I accounted for the number of days each individual was present, TAST-on did have a statistically significant impact on the total number of salmon caught by individuals (Table 5), which aligned with my hypothesis. Critically, seal ID accounted for 44.6% of the variance in the data in the GLMM, further suggesting that the impact of TAST varied greatly across individual seals in fall 2020 (Figure S2).

There are several possible explanations for the observed variability in the effect of TAST on individual harbor seals at Whatcom Creek. First, it is possible that some individuals have compromised hearing from previous sound exposure or old age, rendering the device and any other type of ADD ineffective (Götz & Janik, 2016). This could explain why individuals 0121, 0172, and 0173 were seemingly unaffected and continually returned to Whatcom Creek while the device was on. Similar hypotheses were made in previous studies of TAST, including at Ballard Locks where there is heavy use of other pain-inducing ADDs, such as seal bombs and firecrackers, which may compromise the hearing of harbor seals and minimize the potential effects of TAST (Bogaard, 2021; Williams, Ashe, Bogaard, et al., 2021). Anecdotally, there was no recorded use of pain-inducing ADDs at Whatcom Creek during this study or in prior years, so it is unlikely that individuals in our study were exposed to damaging sound levels at Whatcom Creek. However, the use of pain-inducing ADDs around Bellingham Bay and in the Salish Sea is not well documented, so it is possible that individuals in this study were exposed to damaging sound levels elsewhere. Other sources of anthropogenic or natural sound may impact pinniped hearing as well, such as noise generated by sub-bottom profiling sonars, vessels, pile driving, etc. (Hastie et al., 2021; Polagye & Bassett, 2020). Future studies should try to confirm if individuals that are less affected by TAST (e.g., IDs 0121, 0172, 0173) are in fact hearing impaired, although this may be logistically difficult.

The variable effects of TAST may also be due to transmission loss within the creek, reducing the effective range. A similar study of TAST at Ballard Locks found that received levels at 50 m from the device were just below the startle threshold for a seal with good hearing (159 dB), despite the device previously showing deterrence effects up to 250 m in the study by Götz & Janik (2016) (Bogaard, 2021; Götz & Janik, 2011; Williams, Ashe, Bogaard, et al., 2021). Researchers from Oceans Initiative measured received levels of the TAST signal in Whatcom Creek and found that levels were below the startle threshold at 50 m from the device (Williams, Ashe, Reiss, et al., 2021). River environments often have higher ambient noise due to flowing water and can be shallow with varied bottom-profiles, all aspects that may affect sound transmission and impact the effective range of ADDs (Ellison et al., 2012; Graham et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2014; Williams, Ashe, Bogaard, et al., 2021). At Whatcom Creek, transmission loss may have allowed some individuals to remain and forage in the area, even with the device actively deployed.

Additionally, individuals may be taking advantage of acoustic shadows in the creek, or areas where sound levels are not strong enough to elicit a startle response due to physical barriers disrupting sound transmission. TAST was deployed at the base of the hatchery fish ladder, which is located at a removed spot on the west bank of the study site (Figure 1). There is a concrete wall that runs from the ladder all the way to the upper falls, in the northeast portion of the study area (Figure 1). The concrete wall forms a sharp corner at observation location B (Figure 1).

Observers noted many harbor seals foraging upstream, north of observation location B, a location hereby referred to as the 'upper river'. Notably, the individual that caught the greatest number of salmon in fall 2020, ID 0217, caught many of its fish in the upper river. For example, ID 0217's most successful day was on 11/20/2020 in which 0217 caught at minimum 4 salmon in a single 2-hour period. TAST was deployed and on throughout the observation on 11/20/2020, and observers recorded all catches by ID 0217 as occurring in the upper river. It is likely that the upper river, which is both upstream from the device and behind a concrete wall, is within an acoustic shadow, allowing individuals to forage regularly with the device on. In fact, recordings of received levels of the TAST signal showed significant transmission loss in the upper river, only 26-30 m from the device (Williams, Ashe, Reiss, et al., 2021). Similar acoustic shadows, or 'shadow zones', have been observed in other study systems and should be considered when developing a deployment strategy (Götz & Janik, 2016; Jacobs & Terhune, 2002).

As is often a problem with ADDs, the motivation to forage may be stronger than the aversiveness of the device in our study site. Previous studies report that harbor seals swim past active ADDs if the motivation exists to do so (Graham et al., 2009). If the abundance and availability of prey is a strong enough motivator, individual seals may be able to ignore ADDs and continue to forage (Graham et al., 2009; Jacobs & Terhune, 2002; Yurk & Trites, 2000). This behavioral drive, combined with possible transmission loss or acoustic shadows, might allow some individuals to remain in the creek and forage even with TAST operating.

Additionally, if seals have had prior experience successfully foraging at Whatcom Creek, they may be more likely to return and/or continue to forage despite deterrent efforts. For example, studies at Bonneville Dam have shown that the highly concentrated abundance of salmon near the dam tailrace and fish ladder was a strong attractant to pinnipeds, which in turn

made deterrent efforts difficult and habituation more likely once the pinnipeds arrived at the dam and began foraging (Tidwell et al., 2021). At Whatcom Creek, 18 harbor seals were observed foraging on salmon prior to TAST deployment in 2020, and 17 returned during the TAST experimental window. Five of those individuals were observed consuming salmon prior to TAST deployment, and all 5 returned during the experimental window, with 4 of the 5 recording additional successful events. It is possible these individuals experienced the benefit of foraging at Whatcom Creek, and therefore the motivation to remain and forage was higher than the aversion caused by TAST.

Previous studies on pinnipeds preying on spawning salmon have shown a phenomenon of nuisance or problem individuals who repeatedly return to a river and forage over consecutive years (Freeman et al., 2022; Scordino, 2010). Similar trends have been observed at Whatcom Creek, with a majority of identified seals returning over multiple years between 2014 – 2021 (Freeman et al., 2022). Interestingly, half (50%) of the individuals identified within the experimental window in 2020 were new seals, meaning they had never been observed at Whatcom Creek prior to fall 2020. This proportion of new individuals in 2020 was larger than the proportion observed in 2019 (23% new) and in 2021 (24% new). Further, out of the 7 individuals that were 100% more successful with TAST on, 5 were new individuals.

This influx of new individuals to Whatcom Creek may have been caused by the introduction of TAST. For example, it is possible that some less successful returning seals were deterred, leaving an ecological gap for new individuals to fill and benefit from. Alternatively, ADDs are often associated with a 'dinner bell effect', meaning predators learn to associate the deterrent sound with prey availability (Schakner & Blumstein, 2013). The received sound level of the TAST signal was well below the startle threshold at the mouth of Whatcom Creek
(approximately 124 dB), so individuals would need to enter the creek to experience the deterrent effects (Williams, Ashe, Reiss, et al., 2021). Therefore, it is possible the novel sound signal acted as a dinner bell and attracted new, curious individuals rather than deterring them. However, there was no significant association between prior seal fidelity status (new vs returner) and the number of days an individual was observed (Table S1) or when they were observed in relation to TAST (Table S2). Further, there was no significant relationship between seal fidelity status and foraging successes in fall 2020 (Table S5), and there was no significant relationship between seal fidelity status and when the foraging success or successes occurred with regards to TAST (Table S6).

Rather than TAST driving this shift, it is possible the larger proportion of new individuals observed was due to increased observational effort from Oceans Initiative in 2020. Oceans Initiative observed for several hours throughout the high tide during TAST deployment, which differed from Marine Mammal Ecology Lab's observation protocol in 2019 and 2021 (2-hour observations around slack tide). It is possible that more new individuals were observed simply because observations occurred at different times within the creek. Without including any observations from Oceans Initiative, there still remained 47% new individuals (41 out of 86 seals) observed during the experimental window, greater than seen in 2019 or 2021. It is unclear what caused this increase of new seals observed, but it would be interesting to see if a similar pattern occurred if TAST were redeployed at Whatcom Creek in another year.

It is possible harbor seals delayed their foraging efforts when TAST was on and took advantage of any off-periods throughout fall 2020. The deployment of TAST followed a Controlled Exposure Experimental design (Tyack et al., 2003), as explained in Williams, Ashe, Reiss, et al. (2021) and Bogaard (2021). The motivation behind this unbalanced design (3-days

on, 1-day off) was to fulfill Oceans Initiative's commitment to adaptive management, meaning that if TAST did successfully deter harbor seals from eating salmon, they would be mitigating three times more than collecting control data. This design allowed for direct comparison between experimental treatment (TAST on) and control days (TAST off) throughout the peak of the 2020 salmon run season. However, it did provide days of reprieve in which seals could return and forage when TAST was off, avoiding the deterrent system. When assessing all observations conducted by the Marine Mammal Ecology Lab, including observations conducted in October and December, 34 individuals were only observed foraging when TAST was off, and 12 individuals were observed for one TAST-on observation and subsequently only returned when TAST was off. This suggests a certain degree of selectivity, in which some individuals continued to return to Whatcom Creek to forage, but only when the device was off.

Further, TAST was not deployed for 24 hours, but rather for an average of 4 hours (SD= 0.97h, n=18) around high tide. While harbor seals do reliably aggregate and forage during daylight hours, studies in other systems report high rates of nocturnal foraging on salmonids in rivers (Wright et al., 2007; Yurk & Trites, 2000). Due to limitations of availability and observer safety, observations only occurred during daylight hours. It is likely that harbor seals continued to forage at dusk and during the night, when TAST was not operating. It is therefore possible that seals took advantage of these TAST-off periods and simply delayed their foraging efforts when TAST was on. Similar results were gathered by Götz and Janik (2016) when testing TAST at several aquaculture farms in Scotland. One site showed ambiguous results with no significant decrease in seal predation on salmon, possibly due to temporary off periods during deployment (Götz & Janik, 2016). Other studies of ADDs report that seals may take advantage of temporary off periods or lapses in the device (Graham et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2014). Therefore, to be

most effective, TAST should remain on and operating when utilized as a management tool to mitigate all foraging efforts.

Lastly, it is possible that seals foraged in alternate deterrent-free locations while TAST was deployed (Trites & Spitz, 2016). Individuals that typically forage at Whatcom Creek may have found other nearby river systems to prey on spawning salmon, thereby avoiding the effects of TAST while still impacting Pacific salmon populations. No observations were conducted at other river sites in fall 2020, so it is unknown if individuals from Whatcom Creek foraged in alternate locations while TAST was operating. Future research would need to consider the potential detrimental effects on alternate foraging grounds when deploying TAST at a site of concern.

Long-term Effects of TAST

My study found no detectable long-term effects of TAST on presence or foraging success of individuals in 2021. Thirteen individuals were observed in 2019, 2020 with TAST on, 2020 with TAST off, and in 2021 (Table S3). The proportion of days observed and the number of catches per individual varied greatly across year and across TAST status (Table S3). In the long-term, there was no clear signal showing that TAST had an impact on individual seal foraging success. There was no significant association between TAST exposure in 2020 and individual foraging successes in 2021 (Table S4). Rather, there was a significant correlation between successful seals in 2020 and successful seals in 2021. This suggests that the number of salmon consumed by individuals was similar across these two seasons, despite TAST being deployed in 2020.

There was a significant relationship between TAST exposure in 2020 and the likelihood that an individual would return in 2021, however the relationship was contrary to expectations. Fewer individuals with no observed exposure to TAST returned to the creek in 2021 than expected

(Table 6). On the other hand, more individuals with exposure to TAST returned in 2021 than expected (Table 6). It is possible those individuals were deaf or benefitted from acoustic shadows, as discussed in the previous section, and therefore were able to avoid a fearconditioned response to TAST that would lead to long-term learned avoidance (Götz & Janik, 2011; Schakner & Blumstein, 2013). However, this does not explain why individuals with no exposure to TAST were less likely to return to the creek.

Alternatively, it is possible that there are other drivers influencing which individuals return to forage at Whatcom Creek each year. The best predictor for the likelihood an individual would return in 2021 was their previous fidelity to Whatcom Creek (Table 7). Individuals who were new to the creek in 2020 were less likely to return in 2021, whereas individuals who had been seen prior to 2020 were more likely to return again in 2021, regardless of TAST exposure (Table 7). The 7 individuals that had the most observed exposure to TAST in 2020 (7 or more days) all returned in fall 2021, and 5 of the 7 had been observed foraging at Whatcom Creek multiple times between 2014-2019.

These data suggest that long-term patterns in the presence of individuals across years may be driven more by foraging site fidelity than by TAST. Harbor seals are central place foragers, meaning they exhibit strong site fidelity and often forage close to their haul-out sites (Cordes & Thompson, 2015; Cunningham et al., 2008; Grigg et al., 2012; Iorio-Merlo et al., 2022). Although harbor seal fidelity to haul-out sites is well understood (Cordes & Thompson, 2015), there is limited knowledge of across year harbor seal fidelity to specific foraging sites. Iorio-Merlo et al. (2022) found that individual harbor seals repeatedly used the same foraging areas over time, suggesting that both memory and prey encounters influence an animal's foraging decisions. Similar patterns of foraging site fidelity have been observed in other pinnipeds,

including: elephant seals (*Mirounga* spp.) (Bradshaw et al., 2004; McIntyre et al., 2017), Australian fur seals (*Arctocephalus pusillus doriferus*) (Knox et al., 2018), Antarctic fur seals (*A. gazella*) (Arthur et al., 2015; Bonadonna et al., 2001), and gray seals (S. M. Oksanen et al., 2014). At Whatcom Creek, a high percentage of seals identified (56.5%) were repeat visitors, meaning they were observed during more than one year between 2014-2021 (Freeman et al., 2022). For example, ID 0039 has been observed every year during the salmon run at Whatcom Creek since 2014 (Freeman et al., 2022).

My results suggests that seal fidelity to foraging site has a strong influence on the likelihood an individual will return the following year, trumping the potential long-term deterrent effects of TAST. I hypothesize Whatcom Creek is nearby the central place (haul-out site) for those individual seals that routinely return and forage within a season and across years. When alternative foraging sites are limited, harbor seals may tolerate or habituate to disturbances, such as TAST, to continue using the profitable foraging site near their central place (Grigg et al., 2012). Exposure to TAST in 2020 did not deter seals from returning to the profitable foraging site in 2021, especially for individuals who were repeat-visitors and frequently return to forage year after year. That said, this comparison between the deterrent effects of TAST and the fidelity of individuals to foraging site would be better assessed by comparing two consecutive years of experimental treatment. Future studies should deploy the device over two years to determine if individuals habituate to the device or if site fidelity is altered by continued deployment. With two years of TAST deployment, researchers could determine if the device is effective at deterring individual seals familiar with the benefits of the foraging location.

To assess this interplay between foraging site fidelity and the likelihood an individual would return in 2021, I categorized seals as either new to Whatcom Creek or as returners.

However, this categorization relied on data from previous observations at the creek conducted during daylight hours from October – December of each year. It is possible certain individuals foraged outside of our observation windows, meaning they were not identified as present in previous years, affecting their status as either a new or returning seal in my study. Regardless, there is a large contingency of individuals who routinely return to Whatcom Creek to forage and did so even with TAST deployed.

The long-term effects of TAST were assessed across the general population of seals present between the peak run seasons in 2019, 2020, and 2021. The greatest median number of seals were observed foraging and the greatest median number of salmon was consumed during TAST-off observations in 2020 compared to other years (Figure 9, Figure 10). TAST-on observations in 2020 had similar numbers of seals present and similar numbers of foraging successes as observations in 2019 and 2021, contrary to the hypothesis (Figure 9, Figure 10). It is possible that seals took advantage of TAST off days and simply delayed their foraging efforts when TAST was on, as was discussed in the previous section. Alternatively, it is possible that there was a delayed 'dinner bell effect' in fall 2020, with more seals coming to the area to forage but waiting until the device was off to remain and feed. Either case could have resulted in the higher-than-normal number of foraging events recorded during TAST-off observations in 2020 compared to 2019 and 2021. However, when assessed statistically, TAST was not a significant driver of variation in seal numbers of salmon consumed between years (Table 8, Table 9).

There was inherent variability between the years in my study that made assessing the long-term effects of TAST difficult. For example, prior research showed that the number of fishers present at the creek significantly predicted the odds that an individual seal would have a successful foraging event (Freeman et al., 2022). However, the number of fishers present from

2019 – 2021 was highly variable due to the regulated fishing season. The salmon fishing season was open at Whatcom Creek in 2019 and an average of 13 fishers were present per observation (SD=7.4) during the peak salmon run. On the other hand, the season was closed to fishers in 2020 and 2021, resulting in no fishers present during observations. The lack of fishers present at Whatcom Creek may have impacted seal presence and foraging successes in 2020 and 2021, compared to 2019. That said, the average number of seals present and average number of salmon consumed was similar between 2019 and 2021, so it is unlikely this had a significant effect.

Further, weather may have played a role in the variability across years. In November 2021, there was a significant flooding event in the middle of the chum salmon run, causing heavy creek flow and low salmon returns (Figure 8). High water flow increased water turbidity in the creek, possibly impacting the visual acuity of seals foraging on salmon (Weiffen et al., 2006). This, in turn, may have impacted which seals were present, how many were present, and how much salmon was available to consume. Lastly, the fall adult salmon run has greatly declined at Whatcom Creek over the past decade (Freeman et al., 2022). Due to lower chum returns, the Whatcom Creek Hatchery has shifted to primarily rearing Chinook salmon, resulting in higher Chinook runs and lower chum runs in the last year of the study. This shift in run timing and run size may have impacted which seals were present, how many were present, and how much salmon was consumed.

This variability between years made it difficult to discern any lingering effects of TAST from other ecological drivers of variation. However, data show that 2019 and 2021 were similar across the general population of seals, despite the variation in salmon availability, number of fishers present, extreme weather, or TAST deployment. My results suggest that there is no meaningful long-term effect of TAST over multiple years. In other words, there was no evidence

of a long-term fear-conditioned response caused by TAST in 2020 that deterred individuals from foraging again in 2021. Therefore, TAST needs to be actively deployed to effectively deter harbor seals from consuming salmon in Whatcom Creek.

Management Implications

TAST was effective at deterring seals during observations throughout fall 2020 but was ineffective beyond that season. Within the experimental season, effects were variable across individuals, suggesting the device is not a one-size-fits-all solution. While it did significantly decrease the duration seals remained in the creek and the number of salmon caught and consumed by seals, there was significant variation between individuals, with some strongly affected and others unaffected. When individual variability was considered, the effect of TAST was diminished compared to other studies assessing the general population of seals (Götz & Janik, 2016; Williams, Ashe, Bogaard, et al., 2021; Williams, Ashe, Reiss, et al., 2021). Further, my study observed no meaningful lingering effect of TAST in the year after deployment. For TAST to be an effective management strategy in the long-term, there needs to be regular reinforcement to condition an avoidance behavior strong enough to overcome the observed site fidelity exhibited by individual seals.

The management of pinniped predation on depleted salmon stocks is a complex problem that will require a multifaceted solution (Bowen & Lidgard, 2013; Morissette et al., 2012; NMFS, 1997; Scordino, 2010). This study presents encouraging results, showing that TAST is an effective management tool in deterring most harbor seals from preying on adult salmon when actively deployed. However, TAST had no long-term effectiveness across years, and there was strong variability amongst individual seals. It is possible that, by deploying a network of

coordinated TAST devices throughout the study site, managers could reduce the likelihood of acoustic shadows or the loss of transmission and thereby increase the effectiveness of the deterrent. Further, in-air playbacks of the device could help mitigate avoidance strategies, such as swimming at the surface to avoid the sound stimuli (Bogaard, 2021; Williams, Ashe, Bogaard, et al., 2021). Lastly, deploying the device continuously, rather than having off-periods, could help mitigate an influx of delayed foraging attempts by seals (Götz & Janik, 2016).

However, this approach does not address the individual variation amongst seals, such as the issue of hearing-compromised individuals or strongly motivated 'problem' individuals. Direct observational studies such as this one have shown that relatively few individual pinnipeds are responsible for a majority of the predation on salmon at specific sites (Freeman et al., 2022; Scordino, 2010). Selective lethal removal of problem individuals, albeit controversial and contentious (Cummings et al., 2019; Jackman et al., 2018; Keefer et al., 2012; Scordino, 2010), may help reduce the pinniped-fishery conflict and mitigate predation on depleted salmon stocks (NMFS, 1999; Scordino, 2010). It is possible that individual-specific management methods, such as lethal removal or translocation, and general management methods, such as building physical barriers or deploying TAST, could be used in tandem to mitigate pinniped predation pressures. Future studies should assess the effects of various multi-faceted pinniped management strategies at sites of concern. Further, management of pinniped predation should be done in conjunction with long-term ecosystem restoration and stock-specific management efforts to directly aid depleted salmon stocks (Sobocinski et al., 2021).

Overall, this study suggests that management of pinnipeds should consider individual variability in foraging success. When deployed, TAST can be a helpful tool in deterring pinnipeds, but it is not equally effective across all individuals. It should be used in addition to

other management methods at a site of concern to mitigate predation pressures and allow for prey recovery.

References

- Adams, J., Kaplan, I. C., Chasco, B., Marshall, K. N., Acevedo-Gutiérrez, A., & Ward, E. J. (2016). A century of Chinook salmon consumption by marine mammal predators in the Northeast Pacific Ocean. *Ecological Informatics*, 34, 44–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2016.04.010
- Agresti, A. (2007). An introduction to categorical data analysis (2nd ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Allegue, H., Thomas, A. C., Liu, Y., & Trites, A. W. (2020). Harbour seals responded differently to pulses of out-migrating coho and Chinook smolts. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 647, 211–227. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps13389
- Arthur, B., Hindell, M., Bester, M., Trathan, P., Jonsen, I., Staniland, I., Oosthuizen, W. C., Wege, M., & Lea, M. A. (2015). Return customers: Foraging site fidelity and the effect of environmental variability in wide-ranging antarctic fur seals. *PLoS ONE*, 10, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0120888
- Baird, R. W. (2001). Status of Harbour Seals, *Phoca vitulina*, in Canada. *The Canadian Field-Naturalist*, 115(4), 663–675.
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software, 67(1), 1-48. doi:10.18637/jss.v067.i01.
- Bearzi, G., Holcer, D., & Di Sciara, G. N. (2004). The role of historical dolphin takes and habitat degradation in shaping the present status of northern Adriatic cetaceans. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 14(4), 363–379. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.626
- Bigg, M. A., & Fisher, H. D. (1990). Predation by harbour seals and sea lions on adult salmon in Comox Harbour and Cowichan Bay, British Columbia. *Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 1769(31).
- Bjorkland, R. H., Pearson, S. F., Jeffries, S. J., Lance, M. M., Acevedo-Gutiérrez, A., & Ward, E. J. (2015). Stable isotope mixing models elucidate sex and size effects on the diet of a generalist marine predator. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 526, 213–225. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11230
- Bogaard, L. T. (2021). Startling Seals to Save Salmon Assessing effectiveness of an acoustic deterrent with a statistical application of CReSS-SALSA 2D. University of St. Andrews.
- Bolker, B. M., Brooks, M. E., Clark, C. J., Geange, S. W., Poulsen, J. R., Stevens, M. H. H., & White, J. S. S. (2009). Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 24(3), 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.10.008
- Bonadonna, F., Lea, M. A., Dehorter, O., & Guinet, C. (2001). Foraging ground fidelity and route-choice tactics of a marine predator: The Antarctic fur seal Arctocephalus gazella. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 223, 287–297. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps223287
- Bowen, W. D., & Lidgard, D. (2013). Marine mammal culling programs: Review of effects on predator and prey populations. *Mammal Review*, *43*(3), 207–220. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.2012.00217.x

- Bradshaw, C. J. A., Hindell, M. A., Sumner, M. D., & Michael, K. J. (2004). Loyalty pays: Potential life history consequences of fidelity to marine foraging regions by southern elephant seals. *Animal Behaviour*, 68(6), 1349–1360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2003.12.013
- Brown, R., Jeffries, S., Hatch, D., Wright, B., Jonker, S., & Whiteaker, J. (2009). Field Report: 2009 Pinniped Management Activities at Bonneville Dam. Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission Technical Report 09-10. Portland, Oregon. Retrieved from https://critfc.org/reports/field-report-2009-pinniped-management-activities-at-and-belowbonneville-dam/
- Brown, R., Wright, B. E., Riemer, S. D., & Laake, J. (2005). Trends in abundance and current status of harbor seals in Oregon: 1977-2003. *Marine Mammal Science*, *21*(4), 657–670. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2005.tb01258.x
- Butler, J. R. A., Young, J. C., McMyn, I. A. G., Leyshon, B., Graham, I. M., Walker, I., Baxter, J. M., Dodd, J., & Warburton, C. (2015). Evaluating adaptive co-management as conservation conflict resolution: Learning from seals and salmon. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 160, 212–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2015.06.019
- Butterworth, D. S. (1992). Will more seals result in reduced fishing quotas? South African Journal of Science, 88, 414–416.
- Carter, T. J., Pierce, G. J., Hislop, J. R. G., Houseman, J. A., & Boyle, P. R. (2001). Predation by seals on salmonids in two Scottish estuaries. *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, 8(3), 207–225. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2400.2001.00247.x
- Cederholm, C. J., Johnson, D. H., Bilby, R. E., Dominguez, L. G., Garrett, A. M., Graeber, W. H., Greda, E. L., Kunze, M. D., Marcot, B. G., Palmisano, J. F., Plotnikoff, R. W., Pearcy, W. G., Simenstad, C. A., & Trotter, P. C. (2000). *Pacific Salmon and Wildlife Ecological Contexts, Relationships, and Implications for Management.* Special Edition Technical Report, Prepared for D.H. Johnson and T.A. O'Neil (Managing Directors), Wildlife-Habitat Relationships in Oregon and Washington. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington.
- Chasco, B. E., Kaplan, I. C., Thomas, A. C., Acevedo-Gutiérrez, A., Noren, D. P., Ford, M. J., Hanson, M. B., Scordino, J. J., Jeffries, S. J., Marshall, K. N., Shelton, A. O., Matkin, C., Burke, B. J., & Ward, E. J. (2017). Competing tradeoffs between increasing marine mammal predation and fisheries harvest of Chinook salmon. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-14984-8
- Christensen, V., Coll, M., Piroddi, C., Steenbeek, J., Buszowski, J., & Pauly, D. (2014). A century of fish biomass decline in the ocean. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *512*, 155–166. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps10946
- Clarke, K. R. (1993). Non-parametric multivariate analyses of changes in community structure. *Australian Journal of Ecology*, 18(1), 117–143.
- Cook, R. M., Holmes, S. J., & Fryer, R. J. (2015). Grey seal predation impairs recovery of an over-exploited fish stock. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 52(4), 969–979. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12439

Cordes, L. S., & Thompson, P. M. (2015). Mark-resight estimates of seasonal variation in harbor

seal abundance and site fidelity. *Population Ecology*, *57*(3), 467–472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10144-015-0496-z

- Cummings, C. R., Lea, M. A., & Lyle, J. M. (2019). Fur seals and fisheries in Tasmania: an integrated case study of human-wildlife conflict and coexistence. *Biological Conservation*, 236, 532–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.01.029
- Cunningham, L., Baxter, J. M., Boyd, I. L., Duck, C. D., Lonergan, M., Moss, S. E., & McConnell, B. (2008). Harbour seal movements and haul-out patterns:implications for monitoring and management. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 19, 398–407. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc
- Ellison, W. T., Southall, B. L., Clark, C. W., & Frankel, A. S. (2012). A New Context-Based Approach to Assess Marine Mammal Behavioral Responses to Anthropogenic Sounds. *Conservation Biology*, *26*(1), 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2011.01803.x
- Farrer, J., & Acevedo-Gutiérrez, A. (2010). Use of Haul-Out Sites by Harbor Seals (*Phoca vitulina*) in Bellingham: Implications for Future Development. *Northwestern Naturalist*, 91(1), 74–79. https://doi.org/10.1898/nwn08-46.1
- Forrest, K. W., Cave, J. D., Michielsens, C. G. J., Haulena, M., & Smith, D. V. (2009). Evaluation of an Electric Gradient to Deter Seal Predation on Salmon Caught in Gill-Net Test Fisheries. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 29, 885–894. https://doi.org/10.1577/m08-083.1
- Freeman, G., Matthews, E., Stehr, E., & Gutiérrez, A. A. (2022). Individual variability in foraging success of a marine predator informs predator management. *Scientific Reports*, 12, 11184. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-15200-y
- Götz, T., & Janik, V. M. (2011). Repeated elicitation of the acoustic startle reflex leads to sensitisation in subsequent avoidance behaviour and induces fear conditioning. *BMC Neuroscience*, *12*(30). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-12-30
- Götz, T., & Janik, V. M. (2013). Acoustic deterrent devices to prevent pinniped depredation: Efficiency, conservation concerns and possible solutions. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 492, 285–302. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps10482
- Götz, T., & Janik, V. M. (2015). Target-specific acoustic predator deterrence in the marine environment. *Animal Conservation*, 18(1), 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12141
- Götz, T., & Janik, V. M. (2016). Non-lethal management of carnivore predation: long-term tests with a startle reflex-based deterrence system on a fish farm. *Animal Conservation*, *19*(3), 212–221. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12248
- Graham, I. M., Harris, R. N., Denny, B., Fowden, D., & Pullan, D. (2009). Testing the effectiveness of an acoustic deterrent device for excluding seals from Atlantic salmon rivers in Scotland. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 66(5), 860–864. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsp111
- Graham, I. M., Harris, R. N., Matejusová, I., & Middlemas, S. J. (2011). Do "rogue" seals exist? Implications for seal conservation in the UK. *Animal Conservation*, *14*(6), 587–598. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1795.2011.00469.x
- Grigg, E. K., Allen, S. G., Craven-Green, D. E., Klimley, A. P., Markowitz, H., & Elliott-Fisk, D. L. (2012). Foraging distribution of Pacific harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina richardii*) in a

highly impacted estuary. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 93(1), 282–293. https://doi.org/10.1644/11-MAMM-A-128.1

- Gustafson, R. G., Waples, R. S., Myers, J. M., Weitkamp, L. A., Bryant, G. J., Johnson, O. W., & Hard, J. J. (2007). Pacific salmon extinctions: Quantifying lost and remaining diversity. *Conservation Biology*, 21(4), 1009–1020. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2007.00693.x
- Hansson, S., Bergström, U., Bonsdorff, E., Härkönen, T., Jepsen, N., Kautsky, L., Lundström, K., Lunneryd, S. G., Ovegård, M., Salmi, J., Sendek, D., & Vetemaa, M. (2018).
 Competition for the fish Fish extraction from the Baltic Sea by humans, aquatic mammals, and birds. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 75(3), 999–1008. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsx207
- Hansson, S., Kautsky, L., Bergström, U., Bonsdorff, E., Jepsen, N., Lundström, K., Lunneryd, S. G., Ovegård, M., Salmi, J., Sendek, D., & Vetemaa, M. (2018). Response to comments by Heikinheimo et al. (in press) on Hansson et al. (2018): Competition for the fish Fish extraction from the Baltic Sea by humans, aquatic mammals, and birds. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, *75*(5), 1837–1839. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsy087
- Harlan, L., Smith, D., Holliman, M., Taccogna, G., Miller, D., Munro, B., Olesiuk, P., Baillie, S., & Matthews, I. (2009). *Evaluation of an Electric Barrier as a Seal Deterrent on the Puntledge River*. Pacific Salmon Commission Southern Boundary Restoration & Enhancement Fund Committee. Vancouver, B.C., Canada. Retrived from https://www.psc.org/wpfd_file/s08-e05-evaluation-of-an-electric-barrier-as-a-seal-deterrent-on-the-puntledge-river/
- Harris, R. N., Harris, C. M., Duck, C. D., & Boyd, I. L. (2014). The effectiveness of a seal scarer at a wild salmon net fishery. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 71(5), 1913–1920. https://doi.org/10.1038/278097a0
- Harting, A., Baker, J., & Brenda, B. (2004). Non-Metrical Digital Photo- Identification System for the Hawaiian Monk Seal. *Marine Mammal Science*, 20(4), 886–895.
- Hastie, G. D., Lepper, P., McKnight, J. C., Milne, R., Russell, D. J. F., & Thompson, D. (2021). Acoustic risk balancing by marine mammals: anthropogenic noise can influence the foraging decisions by seals. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 58(9), 1854–1863. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13931
- Iorio-Merlo, V., Graham, I. M., Hewitt, R. C., Aarts, G., Pirotta, E., Hastie, G. D., & Thompson, P. M. (2022). Prey encounters and spatial memory influence use of foraging patches in a marine central place forager. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 289(1970). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2021.2261
- Jackman, J., Bettencourt, L., Vaske, J., Sweeney, M., Bloom, K., Rutberg, A., & Brook, B. (2018). Conflict and consensus in stakeholder views of seal management on Nantucket Island, MA, USA. *Marine Policy*, 95, 166–173. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2018.03.006
- Jacobs, S. R., & Terhune, M. (2002). The effectiveness of acoustic harassment devices in the Bay of Fundy, Canada: seal reactions and a noise exposure model. *Aquatic Mammals*, 28(2), 147–158.
- Jefferson, T. A., Smultea, M. A., Ward, E. J., & Berejikian, B. (2021). Estimating the stock size

of harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina richardii*) in the inland waters of Washington state using line-transect methods. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(6 June), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0241254

- Jeffries, S., Huber, H., Calambokidis, J., & Laake, J. (2003). Trends and Status of Harbor Seals in Washington State : 1978-1999. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 67(1), 207–218.
- Jusufovski, D., Saavedra, C., & Kuparinen, A. (2019). Marine mammal-fisheries competition in contemporary harvested marine ecosystems. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 627, 207– 232.
- Kastelein, R. A., Horvers, M., Helder-Hoek, L., Van de Voorde, S., ter Hofstede, R., & van der Meij, H. (2017). Behavioral responses of harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*) to fauna guard seal module sounds at two background noise levels. *Aquatic Mammals*, 43(4), 347–363. https://doi.org/10.1578/AM.43.4.2017.347
- Keefer, M. L., Stansell, R. J., Tackley, S. C., Nagy, W. T., Gibbons, K. M., Peery, C. A., & Caudill, C. C. (2012). Use of radiotelemetry and direct observations to evaluate sea lion predation on adult pacific salmonids at Bonneville Dam. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 141(5), 1236–1251. https://doi.org/10.1080/00028487.2012.688918
- Knox, T. C., Baylis, A. M. M., & Arnould, J. P. Y. (2018). Foraging site fidelity in male Australian fur seals. *Marine Biology*, 165, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-018-3368-1
- Koch, M. (1999). The neurobiology of startle. Progress in Neurobiology, 59, 107-128.
- Lance, M. M., Chang, W. Y., Jeffries, S. J., Pearson, S. F., & Acevedo-Gutiérrez, A. (2012). Harbor seal diet in northern Puget Sound: Implications for the recovery of depressed fish stocks. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 464, 257–271. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps09880
- Lichatowich, J., Mobrand, L., & Lestelle, L. (1999). Depletion and extinction of Pacific salmon (*Oncorhynchus* spp.): A different perspective. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 56(4), 467– 472. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmsc.1999.0457
- Lüdecke, D. (2021). sjPlot: Data Visualization for Statistics in Social Science. R package version 2.8.10. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=sjPlot
- Lüdecke, D., Makowski, D., Ben-Shachar, M. S., Patil, I., Waggoner, P., Wiernik, B. M., Arel-Bundock, V., & Jullum, M. (2021). performance: An R Package for Assessment, Comparison and Testing of Statistical Models. Journal of Open Source Software, 6(60), 3139. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.03139
- Madsen, S. W., & Nightengale, T. (2009). Whatcom Creek Ten-Years After: Summary Report. R2 Resource Consultants, Inc. Bellingham, Washington. Retrieved from https://cob.org/wpcontent/uploads/whatcom-creek-10-years-after-summary-report.pdf
- Magera, A. M., Mills Flemming, J. E., Kaschner, K., Christensen, L. B., & Lotze, H. K. (2013). Recovery trends in marine mammal populations. *PloS One*, 8(10), e77908. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0077908
- Malick, M. J., & Cox, S. P. (2016). Regional-scale declines in productivity of pink and chum salmon stocks in western North America. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146009
- Marine Mammal Commission. (2007). The Marine Mammal Protection Act of 1972 as amended

2007. US Fish and Wildlife Service.

- McHugh, M. L. (2013). The Chi-square test of independence Lessons in biostatistics. *Biochemia Medica*, 23(2), 143–149. http://dx.doi.org/10.11613/BM.2013.018
- McIntyre, T., Bester, M. N., Bornemann, H., Tosh, C. A., & de Bruyn, P. J. N. (2017). Slow to change? Individual fidelity to three-dimensional foraging habitats in southern elephant seals, *Mirounga leonina*. *Animal Behaviour*, 127, 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2017.03.006
- Middlemas, S. J., Barton, T. R., Armstrong, J. D., & Thompson, P. M. (2006). Functional and aggregative responses of harbour seals to changes in salmonid abundance. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 273(1583), 193–198. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2005.3215
- Mikkelsen, L., Hermannsen, L., Beedholm, K., Madsen, P. T., & Tougaard, J. (2017). Simulated seal scarer sounds scare porpoises, but not seals: Species-specific responses to 12 kHz deterrence sounds. *Royal Society Open Science*, 4, 170286. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.170286
- Morissette, L., Christensen, V., & Pauly, D. (2012). Marine Mammal Impacts in Exploited Ecosystems: Would Large Scale Culling Benefit Fisheries? *PLoS ONE*, 7(9), e43966. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0043966
- Myers, R. A., Hutchings, J. A., & Barrowman, N. J. (1996). Hypotheses for the decline of cod in the North Atlantic. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 138(1–3), 293–308. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps138293
- National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). (1997). Investigation of scientific information on the impacts of California sea lions and Pacific harbor seals on salmonids and on the coastal ecosystems of Washington, Oregon, and California. U.S. Dep. Commer., NOAA Tech.l Memo., NMFS-NMFSC-28, 172p.
- National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). (1999). Report to Congress: Impacts of California sea lions and Pacific harbor seals on salmonids and west coast ecosystems. U.S. Dep. Commer. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Washington, D.C. Retrieved from https://media.fisheries.noaa.gov/dam-migration/pinniped-rpt.pdf
- Nehlsen, W., Williams, J. E., & Lichatowich, J. A. (1991). Pacific Salmon at the Crossroads: Stocks at Risk from California, Oregon, Idaho, and Washington. *Fisheries*, *16*(2), 4–21. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8446(1991)016<0004:psatcs>2.0.co;2
- Nelson, B., Christensen, V., & Walters, C. (2020). Rebuilding the Georgia Strait sport fishery through marine mammal culling. University of British Columbia, Institute for the Oceans and Fisheries. Working Paper #2020-05. Retrieved from https://fisheries.sites.olt.ubc.ca/files/2020/06/2020.1-05-WP-Rebuilding-the-Georgia-Straitsportfishing.pdf
- Newby, T. C. (1973). Changes in the Washington State Harbor Seal Population , 1942-1972. Society for Northwestern Vertebrate Biology, 54(1), 4–6.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P. R., O'Hara, R. B., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., Szoecs, E., & Wagner, H. (2020). *M* vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-7. https://CRAN.R-

project.org/package=vegan

- Oksanen, S. M., Ahola, M. P., Lehtonen, E., & Kunnasranta, M. (2014). Using movement data of Baltic grey seals to examine foraging-site fidelity: Implications for seal-fishery conflict mitigation. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 507, 297–308. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps10846
- Oliveira, L. R. de, Pont, A. C., Machado, R., Engel, M. T., Ott, P. H., Crespo, E. A., & Marchini, S. (2020). Assessing the economic impact caused by South American sea lions based on onboard check versus fishermen's perception: The two sides of the same coin. *Marine Policy*, 121, 104193. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2020.104193
- Olsen, M. T., Galatius, A., & Härkönen, T. (2018). The history and effects of seal-fishery conflicts in Denmark. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 595(July), 233–243. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps12510
- Orr, A. J., Banks, A. S., Mellman, S., Huber, H. R., Delong, R. L., & Brown, R. F. (2004). Examination of the foraging habits of Pacific harbor seal (*Phoca vitulina richardsi*) to describe their use of the Umpqua River, Oregon, and their predation on salmonids. *Fishery Bulletin*, 102(1), 108–117.
- Pacific Salmon Commission. (2015). Joint Chinook technical committee report: 2019 exploitation rate analysis and model calibration. Chinook Technical Committee, TCCHINOOK (21)-01, 146p.
- Polagye, B., & Bassett, C. (2020). Risk to marine animals from underwater noise generated by marine renewable energy devices. In OES-Environmental 2020 state of the science report: Environmental effects of marine renewable energy development around the world. Report for Ocean Energy Systems (OES). doi:10.2172/1633082
- R Core Team. (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Retrieved from http://www.r-project.org/
- Richerson, K., Leonard, J., & Holland, D. S. (2018). Predicting the economic impacts of the 2017 West Coast salmon troll ocean fishery closure. *Marine Policy*, 95, 142–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2018.03.005
- Roffe, T. J., & Mate, B. R. (1984). Abundances and Feeding Habits of Pinnipeds in the Rogue River, Oregon. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 48(4), 1262–1274.
- Roman, J., Dunphy-Daly, M. M., Johnston, D. W., & Read, A. J. (2015). Lifting baselines to address the consequences of conservation success. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 30(6), 299–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.04.003
- Schaffeld, T., Ruser, A., Woelfing, B., Baltzer, J., Kristensen, J. H., Larsson, J., Schnitzler, J. G., Siebert, U., Schaffeld, T., Ruser, A., Woelfing, B., & Baltzer, J. (2020). The use of seal scarers as a protective mitigation measure can induce hearing impairment in harbour porpoises. *Acoustical Society of America*, 146(2019), 4288–4298. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.5135303
- Schakner, Z. A., & Blumstein, D. T. (2013). Behavioral biology of marine mammal deterrents: A review and prospectus. *Biological Conservation*, 167, 380–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.08.024

Schakner, Z. A., Götz, T., Janik, V. M., & Blumstein, D. T. (2017). Can fear conditioning repel

California sea lions from fishing activities? *Animal Conservation*, 20, 425–432. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12329

- Schakner, Z. A., Purdy, C., & Blumstein, D. T. (2019). Contrasting attitudes and perceptions of California sea lions by recreational anglers and the media. *Marine Policy*, 109, 103710. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2019.103710
- Schwarz, D., Spitzer, S. M., Thomas, A. C., Kohnert, C. M., Keates, T. R., & Acevedo-Gutiérrez, A. (2018). Large-scale molecular diet analysis in a generalist marine mammal reveals male preference for prey of conservation concern. *Ecology and Evolution*, 8(19), 9889–9905. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4474
- Scordino, J. (2010). West Coast Pinniped Program Investigations on California Sea Lion and Pacific Harbor Seal Impacts on Salmonids and Other Fishery Resources. Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission. Retrieved from https://www.psmfc.org/wpcontent/uploads/2012/01/expand_pinniped_report_2010.pdf
- Sobocinski, K. L., Greene, C. M., Anderson, J. H., Kendall, N. W., Schmidt, M. W., Zimmerman, M. S., Kemp, I. M., Kim, S., & Ruff, C. P. (2021). A hypothesis-driven statistical approach for identifying ecosystem indicators of coho and Chinook salmon marine survival. *Ecological Indicators*, 124, 107403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2021.107403
- Thompson, P. M., & Wheeler, H. (2008). Photo-ID-based estimates of reproductive patterns in female harbor seals. *Marine Mammal Science*, 24(1), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2007.00179.x
- Tidwell, K. S., Carrothers, B. A., Blumstein, D. T., & Schakner, Z. A. (2021). Steller Sea Lion (*Eumetopias jubatus*) Response to Non-lethal Hazing at Bonneville Dam. *Frontiers in Conservation Science*, 2(760866), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcosc.2021.760866
- Tixier, P., Lea, M. A., Hindell, M. A., Welsford, D., Mazé, C., Gourguet, S., & Arnould, J. P. Y. (2021). When large marine predators feed on fisheries catches: Global patterns of the depredation conflict and directions for coexistence. *Fish and Fisheries*, 22(1), 31–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12504
- Todd, V. L. G., Ruffert, M., & Jiang, J. (2019). Potential Audibility of Three Acoustic Harassment Devices (AHDs) to Marine Mammals in Scotland, UK. *International Journal of Acoustics and Vibration*, *24*(4), 792–800.
- Treves, A., & Karanth, K. U. (2003). Human-Carnivore Conflict and Perspectives on Carnivore Management Worldwide. *Conservation Biology*, 17(6), 1491–1499. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2003.00059.x
- Trites, A. W., Christensen, V., & Pauly, D. (1997). Competition between fisheries and marine mammals for prey and primary production in the Pacific Ocean. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science*, *22*, 173–187.
- Trites, A. W., & Spitz, J. (2016). One-two punches to eliminate depredation by marine mammals on fish caught or raised for human consumption. *Animal Conservation*, *19*(3), 222–224. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12291
- Tyack, P., Gordon, J., & Thompson, D. (2003). Controlled exposure experiments to determine the effects of noise on marine mammals. *Marine Technology Society Journal*, *37*(4), 41–53.

- Venables, W. N., & Ripley, B. D. (2002). Modern Applied Statistics with S. Fourth Edition. Springer, New York. ISBN 0-387-95457-0.
- Voelker, M. R., Schwarz, D., Thomas, A., Nelson, B. W., & Acevedo-Gutiérrez, A. (2020). Large-scale molecular barcoding of prey DNA reveals predictors of intrapopulation feeding diversity in a marine predator. *Ecology and Evolution*, 10(18), 9867–9885. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6638
- Walters, C. J., McAllister, M. K., & Christensen, V. (2020). Has Steller Sea Lion Predation Impacted Survival of Fraser River Sockeye Salmon? *Fisheries*, 45(11), 597–604. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsh.10488
- Wargo Rub, A. M., Som, N. A., Henderson, M. J., Sandford, B. P., Van Doornik, D. M., Teel, D. J., Tennis, M. J., Langness, O. P., van der Leeuw, B. K., & Huff, D. D. (2019). Changes in adult Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) survival within the lower Columbia River amid increasing pinniped abundance. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 76(10), 1862–1873. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2018-0290
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. (2020). 2018-2019 Final Hatchery Escapement *Report.* Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife Fish Program and Hatcheries Division. Retrieved from https://wdfw.wa.gov/publications/02144
- Weiffen, M., Möller, B., Mauck, B., & Dehnhardt, G. (2006). Effect of water turbidity on the visual acuity of harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*). *Vision Research*, 46(11), 1777–1783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2005.08.015
- Williams, R., Ashe, E., Bogaard, L., Bergman, A., Goetz, T., & Janik, V. (2021). Employing Targeted Acoustic Startle Technology (TAST) to deter harbor seal predation on endangered salmonids at the Ballard Locks, Seattle, WA. Oceans Initiative. Retrieved from https://genuswave.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/Ballard-2020-TAST-Final-Report.pdf
- Williams, R., Ashe, E., Reiss, S., Mendez-Bye, A., & Bergman, A. (2021). Deterring Harbor seal (Phoca vitulina) predation on chum salmon (Oncorhynchus keta) with GenusWave Targeted Acoustic Startle Technology (TAST) at Whatcom Creek, Bellingham, WA. Oceans Initiative. WDFW number 20-15475. Retrieved from https://genuswave.com/wpcontent/uploads/2022/05/Oceans-Initiative-Whatcom-2020-TAST-Final-Report.pdf
- Worm, B., Barbier, E. B., Beaumont, N., Duffy, J. E., Folke, C., Halpern, B. S., Jackson, J. B. C., Lotze, H. K., Micheli, F., Palumbi, S. R., Sala, E., Selkoe, K. A., Stachowic, J. J., Watson, R., & Science. (2006). Impacts of biodiversity loss on ocean ecosystem services. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *314*(5800), 787–791. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1137946
- Worm, B., Hilborn, R., Baum, J. K., Branch, T. A., Collie, J. S., Costello, C., Fogarty, M. J., Fulton, E. A., Hutchings, J. A., Jennings, S., Jensen, O. P., Lotze, H. K., Mace, P. M., McClanahan, T. R., Minto, C., Palumbi, S. R., Parma, A. M., Ricard, D., Rosenberg, A. A., ... Zeller, D. (2009). Rebuilding Global Fisheries. *Science*, 325(5940), 578–585. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1173146
- Wright, B. E., Riemer, S. D., Brown, R. F., Ougzin, A. M., & Bucklin, K. A. (2007). Assessment of harbor seal predation on adult salmonids in a Pacific Northwest estuary. *Ecological Applications*, 17(2), 338–351. https://doi.org/10.1890/05-1941
- Wright, B. E., Tennis, M. J., & Brown, R. F. (2010). Movements of Male California Sea Lions

Captured in the Columbia River. *Northwest Science*, *84*(1), 60–72. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3955/046.084.0107

- Yeomans, J. S., Li, L., Scott, B. W., & Frankland, P. W. (2002). Tactile, acoustic and vestibular systems sum to elicit the startle reflex. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 26, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7634(01)00057-4
- Yurk, H., & Trites, A. W. (2000). Experimental Attempts to Reduce Predation by Harbor Seals on Out-Migrating Juvenile Salmonids. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 129(6), 1360–1366. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(2000)129<1360:eatrpb>2.0.co;2
- Zhang, D. (2022). rsq: R-Squared and Related Measures. R package version 2.5. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rsq.
- Zuur, A. F., Ieno, E. N., Walker, N. J., Saveliev, A. A., & Smith, G. M. (2009). Mixed Effects Models and Extensions in Ecology with R. Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/987-0-387-87458-6

Appendix



Figure S1. Plot showing the variation among the levels of the random effect (seal ID) for the final GLMM predicting duration (min) of seals at Whatcom Creek in 2020. Y-axis shows each individual seal (n=98) and the values indicate the difference between the general model estimate and individual effect. Color denotes either a positive (blue) or negative (red) relationship to the general model intercept for each seal. According to estimates, IDs 0173, 0172, and 0075 spent the most time at Whatcom Creek in fall 2020.

Random effects



Figure S2. Plot showing the variation among the levels of the random effect (seal ID) for the final GLMM predicting sum of salmon caught by seals at Whatcom Creek in 2020. Y-axis shows each individual seal (n=55) and the values indicate the difference between the general model estimate and the individual effect. Color denotes either a positive (blue) or negative (red) relationship to the general model intercept for each seal. According to estimates, IDs 0229, 0217, and 0039 consumed the greatest number of salmon in fall 2020.

Table S1. Chi-squared test for 2x4 contingency table, comparing seal fidelity as it relates to number of days observed for each individual seal in fall 2020. Chi-squared statistics (χ^2), p-values, and Pearson's residuals are shown for seal site fidelity status and number of days present in 2020.

	New	Returner	Total
1-2 Days	26	17	43
3-4 Days	10	12	22
5-6 Days	5	7	12
7+ Days	8	13	21
Total Seen in 2020	49	49	98

χ^2	Р	New:1-2 Days	New:3-4 Days	New:5-6 Days	New:7+ Days
3.589	0.309	1.832	-0.484	-0.616	-1.23

Table S2. *Chi-squared test for 2x4 contingency table comparing seal fidelity as it relates to proportion of days observed when TAST was on out of the total number of days observed for each individual seal.*

	New	Returner	Total
0.0-0.24	19	16	35
0.25-0.49	5	6	11
0.5-0.74	15	17	32
0.75-1.0	10	10	20
Total Seen in 2020	49	49	98

χ^2	Р	New: 0.0-0.24	New: 0.25-0.49	New: 0.5-0.74	New: 0.75-1.0
0.473	0.925	0.632	-0.320	-0.431	0.000

Table S3. Proportion of days observed and total number of salmon caught per ID for seals seen across all four TAST status: before (2019), On (2020), Off (2020), and after (2021). Proportions are the number of observations each seal was present out of the total number of observations conducted per year between October and December.

	20	19	202		20		2021		
	Before	TAST	TAS	TAST On		TAST Off		After TAST	
	Days	Total	Days	Total	Days	Total	Days	Total	
ID	Observed	Catches	Observed	Catches	Observed	Catches	Observed	Catches	
0012	0.48	0	0.07	1	0.42	0	0.35	0	
0039	0.30	3	0.07	6	0.54	0	0.62	14	
0083	0.30	2	0.07	1	0.25	0	0.19	4	
0085	0.04	0	0.07	0	0.17	0	0.24	2	
0117	0.19	1	0.29	2	0.33	1	0.43	5	
0121	0.04	0	0.29	0	0.08	1	0.35	4	
0166	0.30	0	0.29	1	0.63	0	0.41	0	
0172	0.07	0	0.36	3	0.29	0	0.35	1	
0173	0.30	0	0.57	6	0.38	4	0.19	2	
0186	0.07	0	0.14	0	0.04	0	0.27	0	
0198	0.15	2	0.14	0	0.21	0	0.16	3	
0200	0.11	3	0.21	0	0.04	0	0.03	0	
0213	0.07	0	0.29	3	0.08	1	0.05	0	

Table S4. Contingency table and resulting Chi-squared test for $2x^2$ table comparing seal exposure to TAST in 2020 and the individual's foraging success in 2021 for all seals present in 2021 (n=55).

	Exposed	Not Exposed	Total
Foraging Success	14	4	18
No Foraging Success	19	18	37
Total seen in 2021	33	21	55

χ^2	Р	Exposed:Success	Not_Exposed:Success
2.51	0.113	1.88	-1.88

Table S5. Contingency table and resulting Chi-squared test for $2x^2$ table comparing seal fidelity status to successful foraging events (yes or no) in 2020 for each individual present in 2020 (n=98).

	New	Returner	Total
Foraging Success	16	22	38
No Foraging Success	33	27	60
Total Seen in 2020	49	49	98

χ^2	Р	New:Success	Returner:Success
1.07	0.299	-1.244	1.244

Table S6. Contingency table and resulting Chi-squared test for 2x4 table comparing seal fidelity as it relates to successful foraging events across TAST status in fall 2020. Successes were categorized per individual according to when the success or successes were observed: only when TAST was on (Success_On), only when TAST was off (Success_Off), both when TAST was on and off (Success_both), or no observed success (Success_none).

	New	Returner	Total
Success_On	6	4	10
Success_Off	3	7	10
Success_Both	7	11	18
Success_None	33	27	60
Total Seen in 2020	49	49	98

χ^2	Р	New:Success_on	New:Success_off	New:Success_both	New:Success_none
3.489	0.322	0.667	-1.334	-1.043	1.244